Central Bedfordshire
Council
Priory House
Monks Walk
Chicksands,
Shefford SG17 5TQ
please ask for

Sandra Hobbs

direct line

0300 300 5257

date

6 December 2012

NOTICE OF MEETING
DELEGATED DECISIONS BY THE EXECUTIVE MEMBER
FOR CHILDREN'S SERVICES ON SCHOOL AGE RANGE
PROPOSALS
Date & Time

Monday, 17 December 2012 2.00 p.m.
Venue at

Committee Room 1, Watling House, High Street North,
Dunstable
Richard Carr
Chief Executive
To:

The Executive Member for Children’s Services
Cllr Mark Versalion

All other Members of the Council - on request

MEMBERS OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC ARE WELCOME TO ATTEND THIS
MEETING

AGENDA

1.

Members' Interests
To receive from Members any declarations of interest.

2.

Public Participation
To receive any questions, statements or deputations from members of the
public in accordance with the Procedure as set out in Part A4 of the
Constitution.

Reports
Item
3.

Subject

Page Nos.

Determination of Statutory Proposals to Extend the Age
Ranges of Houghton Regis Lower School, and St Mary's
Catholic Voluntary Aided Lower School in Dunstable

*

The report sets out the representations received by the Council
to the statutory proposals to extend age ranges at one
Community Lower School in Houghton Regis and one Voluntary
Aided Lower School in Dunstable.

3 - 120

Agenda Item 3
Page 3

Meeting:

Executive (Delegated decision to the Executive Member for
Children’s Services, Councillor Mark Versallion)

Date:

17 December 2012

Subject:

Determination of statutory proposals to extend the age
ranges of Houghton Regis Lower School, and St Mary’s
Catholic Voluntary Aided Lower School in Dunstable

Report of:

Edwina Grant, Deputy Chief Executive/ Director of Children’s
Services

Summary:

The report sets out the representations received by the Council to the
statutory proposals to extend age ranges at one Community Lower
School in Houghton Regis and one Voluntary Aided Lower School in
Dunstable. These proposals have been subject previously of statutory
consultation and a further statutory notice period has now concluded
requiring the Council to consider representations received and to now
determine the outcome of the proposals.

Advising Officer:

Edwina Grant, Deputy Chief Executive/ Director of Children’s
Services

Contact Officer:

Pete Dudley, Assistant Director for Learning, Commissioning
and Partnerships

Public/Exempt:

Public

Wards Affected:

Houghton Hall, Caddington

Function of:

Executive

Key Decision

Yes

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS
Council Priorities:
The report supports Central Bedfordshire’s Medium Term Plan: Delivering your priorities
– Our Plan for Central Bedfordshire 2012-2016 and the specific priority of Improved
Educational Attainment.

Agenda Item 3
Page 4

Financial:
1.

The implementation of the proposal to extend the age range at Houghton
Regis Lower School requires approximately £200k capital investment to
provide required additional class space, of which the school has committed
£120k from its own reserves. The shortfall of £80k is to be met through a
capital loan agreed between the Council and the school’s Governing Body,
established under terms and conditions set out in the Scheme for Financing
Schools but funded from carry forward in Department for Education grant
which will not impact on the Council’s general fund. This loan scheme is to be
extended in the future to all Council maintained schools.

2.

In publishing statutory proposals for St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School, the
Governing Body of the school therefore carries the duty to implement the
proposal if it is approved. At the point of determination of the proposals the
Council as decision maker must be satisfied, that the school is able to
implement the decision.
The implementation of the proposal to extend the age range at St Mary’s VA
Lower School is not reliant on any additional teaching or class space as the
building already has sufficient capacity to accommodate the additional year
groups.
The school’s Governing Body has however budgeted for some minor internal
renovation and the provision of additional playground space estimated at £37k.
St Mary’s is a Voluntary Aided school and may also seek any capital it requires
through the Locally Controlled Voluntary Aided Programme (LCVAP) with the
support of the Diocese.

3.

The day to day running costs of expanded provision is met through revenue
funding which is made available to each school as part of the dedicated schools
grant, calculated on a per pupil basis.

Legal:
4.

The main legislation governing school organisation is found in sections 7-32 of
the Education and Inspections Act 2006, The School Organisation
(Establishment and Discontinuance of Schools) (England Regulations 2007 and
the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Mainstream Schools)
(England) Regulations 2007.

5.

The Department for Education produces guidance which provides information
on the procedures established by this legislation containing both statutory
guidance (i.e. guidance to which local authorities and governing bodies have a
statutory duty to have regard) and non-statutory guidance, on the process for
making changes to the upper age limit of a maintained mainstream school.

6.

The Executive Member for Children’s Services is authorised, under delegated
authority, to exercise the Council’s duty to determine proposals to alter the
upper age range of pupils in schools. As decision maker the Council must be
satisfied that the proposals have followed due process and must also have
regard to statutory guidance.

Agenda Item 3
Page 5

7.

As decision maker for the statutory proposals reflected in this report the
Executive Member for Children’s Services must determine whether to approve
the proposed changes within two months of the close of the determination
period, otherwise the proposals will be referred to the schools adjudicator.

8.

The following bodies may appeal against a Council decision on the proposals
in this report:
•
•
•

The local Church of England diocese.
The bishop of the local Roman Catholic diocese.
The Governors and Trustees of a voluntary school that is subject to the
proposals.

Any appeals must be submitted to the Council within 4 weeks of the decision
and the Council must refer the matter to the schools adjudicator.
Risk Management:
9.

Each of the proposals set out in this report has been developed and evaluated
against the key criteria for decision makers that are outlined in guidance.
Likewise the proposals have followed the procedures set out in regulation. This
mitigates the risk on the Council of failing to comply with the relevant statutory
requirements.
Key risks mitigated by the process that has been followed include:

10.

•

Failure to discharge legal and statutory duties/guidance.

•

Failure to deliver the Council's strategic priorities.

•

Reputational risks associated with the non delivery of required school
places.

•

Financial risks, including significant capital commitment to the Council, and
the consequential additional running costs that will be borne by the schools.

If approved, the implementation of each proposal will be subject of a detailed
change management plan developed by each school and supported by the
Council and for St Mary’s VA Lower by the Roman Catholic Diocese. These
plans will include risk assessment and management criteria to ensure effective
delivery of the objectives set out in the proposal documents. Any contract and
construction risks will be overseen through the schools and Diocese project
management of agreed projects.

Staffing (including Trades Unions):
11.

Staff and Trade Unions at both schools have been engaged throughout the
consultation process.

Agenda Item 3
Page 6

12.

Two responses were received from Unions to the Houghton Regis Lower School
proposal.
One response accepted that for some 9 year old children the retention within a
small familiar school would be beneficial before transition to Key stage 3. The
respondent also stressed the importance of consultation with parents and
carers, which has been comprehensive throughout this process.
The second respondent raised concerns that the proposal should only be
considered in consultation with other schools in the area, which it has, and also
of the school’s financial position as the proposal requires capital investment,
which is to be provided through a loan as outlined in this report.

13.

No responses were received from Unions to the St Mary’s VA Lower School
proposal.

14.

Staff at both schools have indicated their support for the proposals and each
school also acknowledges its need to recruit new staff for the additional year
groups. Each school has stressed that the proposed changes will be supported
by the Primary trained staff that they currently have and that a larger school
could allow for better career progression for all staff than is available in a small
school.

15.

The Roman Catholic Diocese of Northampton has been fully engaged and
supportive of the proposals brought forward by the Governing Body of St Mary’s
VA Lower School, who are employers of the staff.

16.

In addition to the Council’s statutory responsibilities as employer of staff in
Community Schools, schools should ensure that they will have the support of
their Human Resources provision where any proposals require changes in
school staff structures or to terms and conditions of employment. The Council, in
undertaking its statutory responsibilities, will have a role to ensure correct
procedures have been undertaken where procedures may lead to dismissal.

Equalities/Human Rights:
17.

Public authorities have a statutory duty to promote equality of opportunity,
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and to foster
good relations in respect of the following protected characteristics: age,
disability, gender re-assignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.
This statutory duty includes requirements to:
•

Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due to their
protected characteristics.

•

Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these
are different from the needs of other people.

•

Encourage people from protected groups to participate in public life or in
other activities where their participation is disproportionately low.

Agenda Item 3
Page 7

18.

As Decision Maker for these proposals, the Executive Member acting on behalf
of the Council has considered that there are no race or disability discrimination
issues that arise from the changes being proposed. Both of the schools has
carefully considered these issues and the impact on provision for children with
special educational needs and disabilities in their proposal documents that have
been publicised with the statutory notices. Similarly each school has made a
commitment to provide access to a range of opportunities which reflect the
ethnic and cultural mix of their local communities, while ensuring that such
opportunities are open to all. The impact on extended school services is also
outlined in the proposal documents attached to this report.

19.

The proposal to extend the age range of St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School
supports the clear parental demand indicated throughout the consultation
process for a continuation of Catholic provision for years 5 & 6, also enabling a
clear transition to secondary Catholic provision in Luton and in Hemel
Hempstead for those who choose it, where a place is available.

20.

In January 2011, the Department for Education produced the most recent of its
reports on Schools, Pupils and their characteristics. The report indicated that
10% of all Primary aged pupils (and 10% of all Secondary aged pupils) in
England were taught in a school with a Roman Catholic religious character. In
Central Bedfordshire approximately 2% of all Primary aged pupils (0% of all
Secondary pupils) are taught in a school with a Roman Catholic religious
character.

Public Health
21.

The schools currently provide a range of extended schools services including:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Transition support for pupils, schools and families
Combined clubs and after school activities
Promotion of inter school sports and other activities
Holiday activities
Breakfast and after school clubs and activities
Support for vulnerable pupils and families i.e siblings group and young
carers.

Community Safety:
22.

The Council has a statutory duty to consider community safety implications in
undertaking its delivery of core services. Extending the age ranges for the
schools noted will require the Council to work with the schools to ensure that the
community safety impact has been assessed and appropriate measures to
mitigate any risk have been implemented. Complaints regarding noise, litter,
young people and general anti social behaviour are higher in areas surrounding
schools. Increasing the numbers accessing schools has the potential to further
increase complaints. The impact on travel and access has been considered, and
the Council will need to work with the schools to ensure that the wider community
safety impact is considered and appropriately addressed.

Agenda Item 3
Page 8

Sustainability:
23.

Whilst there may be additional costs in order to meet sustainability objectives for
any new build and/or expansion of existing schools, these will be contained
within the costs identified for each individual project and informed by the
Council’s Schools Sustainable Design Brief. These measures would contribute
to reduced running costs through better energy and resource efficiency, and
therefore limit the Carbon Reduction Commitment burden on the Council and
the school, alongside creating a better learning environment for the pupils.

Procurement:
24.

The Council’s Procurement Team will continue to provide support for any
scheme of planned capital investment to implement the proposals set out in this
report, funded by the schools. This will ensure that value for money is secured
and a range of potential procurement routes are considered.

Overview and Scrutiny:
25.

This matter has not been considered by Overview and Scrutiny.

RECOMMENDATIONS:
The Executive Member for Children’s Services is asked to:
1.

note that the procedures established by The Education and Inspections
Act 2006 (EIA 2006) and The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations
to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended by The
School Organisation and Governance (Amendment) (England) Regulations
2007 and The School Organisation and Governance (Amendment)
(England) Regulations 2009, have been complied with in bringing forward
the proposals outlined in this report;

2.

consider the representations received in respect of the St Mary’s VA Lower
School proposal attached at Appendix C, to the statutory notice as set out
in Appendix B, issued on the 22 October 2012 under Section 19(3) of the
Education and Inspections Act 2006 for St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower
School. No representations were received in respect of the Houghton
Regis Lower School proposal;

3.

approve the statutory proposals to extend the age ranges of the following
two schools to become 3-11 Primary Schools, with effect from September
2013:
i.

Houghton Regis Lower School to provide 315 places in the main
school for pupils aged 5-11, with a published admission number of
45, plus provision for 52 part time nursery places; and

ii.

St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School to provide 210 places in the main
school for pupils aged 5-11, with a published admission number of
30, plus provision for 52 part time nursery places.

Agenda Item 3
Page 9

Reason for
Recommendations:

To determine the outcome of the statutory proposals following
the close of the representation period on the 3 December 2012.
If the Council were to fail to decide these proposals within
2 months of the end of the representation period it must forward
proposals, and any received representations, to the schools
adjudicator for decision.

Executive Summary
26.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Executive Member for Children’s
Services with sufficient information and guidance to enable him to determine the
proposals to extend the age ranges of Houghton Regis Lower School and St
Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School.

27.

The report will set out the background to the proposals and the process that they
have followed to date, aligned with the statutory requirements set out in
legislation and Department for Education guidance for proposals of this nature.

28.

The report concludes with a recommendation to approve the proposed changes
to age ranges at these two schools, with an implementation date of September
2013.

Background
29.

Central Bedfordshire’s guidance for maintained schools proposing changes to
age ranges was published on the Council’s website, in Central Essentials and
Governors Essentials and in the Members Bulletin in September and October
2011. The guidance was created using Department for Education statutory
guidance for decision makers as its basis.

30.

A proposal from the Governing Body of Houghton Regis Lower School to
become 3-11 Primary schools from September 2013 was received and
acknowledged by the Council in June 2012. The proposal was subsequently
approved by the Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children’s Services, in
consultation with the Executive Member for Children’s Services, to proceed to
initial consultation.

31.

Separately, the Governing Body of St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School
determined, as it is able to do as a Voluntary School, to undertake initial
consultation on a similar proposal to become a primary school. Although the
school is able to propose to change its age range, to consult and to publish
statutory notices for the purpose, the Council is the eventual decision maker in
the process.

32.

The initial consultation period for Houghton Regis Lower commenced on 20 July
2012 to 8 October 2012. The initial consultation period for St Mary’s Catholic VA
Lower School commenced on 6 September 2012 to 18 October 2012. Each
school was supported to ensure that the process followed that set out in
Department for Education guidance and regulation.

Agenda Item 3
Page 10

33.

The Governing Body of Houghton Regis Lower School submitted its consultation
materials, minutes of public meetings and copies of all responses received, to
the Council.

34.

Houghton Regis Lower School also prepared a summary of the responses
received, setting out those made in support and objection to the proposal and
also providing additional comment where relevant. The Governing Body also
formally confirmed their continuing support for the proposal and requested that
the Council approve the publication of statutory proposals.

35.

The school’s consultation materials, minutes of public meetings and copies of all
responses, including the school’s own response to issues raised is attached at
Appendix A to this report.

36.

On the 18 October 2012 the Acting Director of Children’s Services, in
consultation with the Executive Member for Children’s Services, considered the
representations made to the initial consultation and the statement of the
Governing Body of the school and approved the publication of statutory
proposals, under Section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006, for
the school to change its age range to become a Primary School catering for
pupils aged 5-11 with effect of September 2013.

37.

The Governing Body of St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School also considered the
outcome of their initial consultation and determined to progress with the
publication of statutory proposals under Section 19(3) of the Education and
Inspections Act 2006 to change their age range to become a Primary School
catering for pupils aged 5-11 with effect of September 2013.

38.

Both of the statutory proposals were published in line with Department for
Education guidance on 22 October 2012 along with evidence of the initial
consultation and other information prescribed by regulation inviting further
comment or objection to the proposals by the end of the representation period
on 3 December 2012. Copies of the Statutory Notices and the prescribed
information for each of the proposals are attached at Appendices A and B for
Houghton Regis Lower School and St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School
respectively.

39.

If the Council were to fail to decide these proposals within 2 months of the end
of the representation period it must forward proposals, and any received
representations, to the schools adjudicator for decision.

Determination
40.

The Executive Member for Children’s Services is authorised, under delegated
authority, to exercise the Council’s duty to determine proposals to alter the
upper age range of pupils in these schools. As decision maker the Council must
be satisfied that the proposals have followed due process and he must have
regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State.

Agenda Item 3
Page 11

41.

Before judging the respective factors and merits of the statutory proposals, the
Executive Member for Children’s Services must consider four key issues. These
are:
•
•
•
•

Is any information missing?
Does the published notice comply with statutory requirements?
Has the statutory consultation been carried out prior to the publication of
the notice?
Are the proposals “related” to other published proposals?

42.

The statutory proposals were published on 22 October 2012 with information
prescribed by regulation and supplemented with significant additional content
explicitly outlining the objectives of each school, in bringing the proposals
forward. The information was complete, clear and complied with statutory
requirements. Evidence that the initial consultation was carried out before the
statutory notices were published was provided to the Council and the proposals
are not related to each other but are independent and capable of being
determined without preventing or undermining the implementation of others in
this report.

43.

The Department for Education guidance for decision makers is issued by the
Secretary of State and contains a number of key factors to be considered
when they make a decision on proposals of this nature. The guidance is clear
that these factors should not be taken to be exhaustive and all proposals
should be considered on their individual merits. The following sections
therefore focus on the factors most relevant to these proposals but should be
considered alongside each school’s objectives and the consultation responses
outlined in Appendices A & B.

44.

A system shaped by parents – The findings of the initial consultation indicated
significant support and parental demand for the proposed change in age
ranges at each of the schools.

45.

Standards – The key driving objective of these proposals is to raise standards
and to improve outcomes for young people, particularly at Key Stage 2. Both
proposals seek to promote the benefit gained from the stability, consistency and
continuity for children throughout their primary years, through each school’s
ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organisation. Each school believes that
conversion to Primary Schools will be of benefit in raising the attainment of all
pupils in particular by removing the disruption of a school transfer at the end of
year 4.

46.

Diversity - The proposal enables the Council to meet its statutory duty to secure
diversity of provision in school places and to increase opportunities for parental
choice for those who favour a primary age range. The proposed change to St
Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School also reflects greater choice for those parents
who seek Catholic provision for their children throughout key stages 1 and 2.
The supply of school places for those seeking Catholic Primary school provision
is significantly under represented in Central Bedfordshire when viewed against
the rest of England.

Agenda Item 3
Page 12

47.

Every Child Matters – Each of the proposals are clear that achieving the five
outcomes for Every Child Matters is central to the schools ethos with wrap
around care, support for families and a wide range of extended services that are
achieved by working in partnership.

48.

Equal opportunity issues – Each of the schools has carefully considered these
issues and the impact on provision for children with special educational needs
and disabilities in their proposal documents that have been publicised with the
statutory notices. Similarly each school has made a commitment to provide
access to a range of opportunities which reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of
their local communities, while ensuring that such opportunities are open to all.

49.

Need for places – The Council’s School Organisation Plan is refreshed on an
annual basis to take account of the supply and demand for school places. It is
informed by data on school capacity and forecasts of pupil numbers as a result
of changes in birth rate, housing development and parental preferences.

50.

The pattern of provision in Central Bedfordshire is also reflected in the Plan and
while it is traditionally a three tier area of lower, middle and upper schools it also
now has a number of primary schools, a middle deemed primary serving the 513 age range, one secondary school and a University Technical College serving
the 14-19 age range.

51.

The pattern of provision in the Houghton Regis area is subject to significant
change as a result of previous Council and Department for Education decisions
to change existing age ranges in a number of schools, fundamentally towards a
more traditional primary/secondary pattern of provision.

52.

Houghton Regis Lower School is in an area of housing growth and the proposal
to convert to primary would add new places in the area, in addition to
reorganising existing provision. The school is also now in the unique position of
serving 3-9 age range whereas all other Houghton Regis Lowers will become
primaries from September 2013.

53.

Houghton Regis Academy is currently consulting to change age ranges and
become Secondary. Barnfield Vale Academy has received Department for
Education approval on its proposal to become a Primary. The Academy
sponsors of Brewers Hill Middle have also indicated an intention to consult on
becoming a Primary. These were historically all of Houghton Regis Lower’s
natural feeder middle schools and the changes will disrupt the transition points
for year 5. The approved change in age range at All Saints Academy brings
further pressure on the local pattern of provision to align in a primary/secondary
model.

54.

The Houghton Regis proposal is therefore aligned with those being made
currently by the Academies in the area and will ensure a coherent pattern of
primary and secondary provision and transition for the pupils in these schools. It
also provides the Council with a clearer basis for strategic planning to meet the
demand of planned local housing growth in the north Houghton Regis area.

Agenda Item 3
Page 13

55.

The proposal to change the age range at St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School
will add places to the system that are not required as a result of demographic
growth but are responding to significant parental demand. This will undoubtedly
add to the existence of surplus places in the system although the decision
makers guidance is clear that where proposals will add to surplus capacity, but
there is a strong case for approval on parental preference and standards
grounds, the presumption should be for approval.

56.

Travel and Accessibility for all – Section 76 of the Education and Inspections Act
2006 places a duty on local education authorities to promote the use of
sustainable modes of travel to meet the school travel needs of their area.

57.

Whilst there may be an increase in the total numbers of children travelling to
both of the schools subject of these proposals, this will be matched by a
corresponding reduction in journeys to the current receiver middle school.
Similarly in the past year with local housing development, Houghton Regis
Lower School has started to increase admissions from its own catchment area
hence the majority of increased traffic would be expected to be pedestrian.

58.

Both of the schools concerned already has an approved travel plan which will be
updated if the proposals are approved to reflect the changes that will be made
and to outline the actions they will be taking to encourage sustainable travel and
to ensure any negative travel and transport issues are minimised. The Council’s
sustainable transport team are able to help support this review process and
provide guidance as to the actions that should be put in place. An updated travel
plan will also be required in due course to accompany the planning application
for the physical expansion of Houghton Regis Lower School.

58.

Funding and land – Capital costs have been identified to implement the
Houghton Regis Lower School proposal. The Governing Body of the school has
committed to fund a significant proportion of the required expansion which will
be supplemented by a loan of £80k agreed between the Council and the
school’s Governing Body, established under terms and conditions set out in the
Scheme for Financing Schools. A similar loan scheme is to be extended to all
Council maintained schools, funded as part of the Scheme for Financing
Schools from school balances held by the Council. Neither of the proposals are
reliant on capital receipts, new sites or playing fields and there are no land
tenure issues arising from these proposals.

60.

Houghton Regis Lower School is in an area of housing growth and although no
guarantee could be given of a future S106 contribution there is a strong
likelihood of a future allocation given that a Section 106 agreement is in place,
which is yet to reach a trigger point to release funds to the LA.

61.

The Governing Body of St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School has budgeted for
some minor internal renovation and the provision of additional playground space
estimated at £37k. St Mary’s is a Voluntary Aided school and may also seek any
capital it requires through the Locally Controlled Voluntary Aided Programme
(LCVAP) with the support of the Diocese.

Agenda Item 3
Page 14

62.

Special educational needs provision – Each of the schools subject of these
proposals, already support children with special educational needs attending
their local mainstream school. While there are no proposals to establish new
specialist provision or to change existing, each of the schools believe that
current provision and practice for special educational needs, vulnerable and
looked after children and for children with disabilities is good and will be
enhanced by the proposal.

63.

In expanding age ranges, delivering the whole of the primary curriculum and
retaining children through to the end of year 6 the schools believe that all
learners will be better supported since many children find it difficult to adapt to
the disruption of a larger school, different organisation and different approaches
to teaching and learning.

64.

Views of interested parties – The Department for Education guidance is clear
that the decision maker should consider the views expressed during the initial
consultation and the statutory representation period, following publication of the
statutory public notices. In doing so he should not simply take account of the
numbers of respondents expressing a particular view but instead give the
greatest weight to representations from stakeholders likely to be most directly
affected by the proposals.

65.

The analysis of the responses to the initial consultation is attached with the
Statutory Notices for each school at Appendices A & B. Each of these
Appendices is structured to provide:
The school’s original proposal and consultation document
A report of responses received and the outcome of the initial consultation
The Statutory Notice of the full proposal and representation period, and
The prescribed information which accompanied the Statutory Notices.

66.

A significant majority of responses to the initial consultation for both schools
were positive with overwhelming support from parents and carers.
Concerns were raised by a limited number of schools at the potential to disrupt
the pattern of three tier education provision in relation to the proposal made by
St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School. The response of the Governing Body to
issues raised in the initial consultation is clearly set out within its consultation
report on pages 11 to 13 of Appendix B.

67.

However, there is the precedence set elsewhere within the locality of a Catholic
Primary School (St Vincent’s RC VA in Houghton Regis), which the Council has
previously accepted and which currently sits within an otherwise 3 tier area.
Parents and carers of children who attend this school seek denominational
places within a Secondary School in neighbouring Luton Borough at the end of
Year 6 or seek places elsewhere, where these are available, within the local 3
tier schools at the end of Year 4 or 6.

68.

If the proposal is approved, this choice will also be available to parents and
carers of children at St Marys Catholic VA Lower. Therefore, to consider
rejection simply based on a mismatch of pattern of school provision could, in this
instance, be regarded as being discriminatory.

Agenda Item 3
Page 15

69.

Six responses were received within the formal 6 week representation period, all
relating to the St Mary’s proposal. These are attached at Appendix C. Attached
at Appendix D is the response of the school’s Governing Body to the issues
raised.

70.

Overall, the consultation outcomes indicate that there is significant support for
the proposals to extend the age range of the two schools in this report.

Decision
71.

In considering the proposals the decision maker may decide to reject, approve
or to approve with modifications (e.g. the implementation date) the proposals
set out in this report. In either case, the reasons for the final decision must be
carefully recorded indicating the main factors considered and the reasons for
the decision. A copy of the final decision must be forwarded to a range of
bodies specified in guidance.

72.

Whilst the decision on Houghton Regis Lower School will be binding as it is a
Community School, there is provision within the legislation for the Governing
Body or Diocese to appeal the decision in connection with St Mary’s Catholic
VA Lower School by reference to the Office of the School Adjudicator.

73.

Having followed the procedure required by regulation and in consideration of
the key issues and factors for decision makers set out in guidance it is
recommended that the proposals to extend age ranges at the two schools as
set out in this report and published by Statutory Notices issued on 22 October
2012, be approved with an implementation date of 1 September 2013.

Appendices:
Appendix A Consultation document, Report on outcome of initial consultation, Statutory
Notices and prescribed information for Houghton Regis Lower School
Appendix B Consultation document, Report on outcome of initial consultation, Statutory
Notices and prescribed information for St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School
Appendix C Responses received within the representation period
Appendix D Response from St Mary’s Catholic VA Lower School to representations
received
Background Papers: (open to public inspection)
None.

Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank

Prescribed information which accompanied the Statutory Notices – Page 23 to 38

Statutory Notice of the full proposal and representation period – Pages 21 to 22

Report of responses received and the outcome of the initial consultation – Pages 9 to 20

The school’s original proposal and consultation document – Pages 1 to 8

Index to Appendix A

Proposal to change age range of Houghton Regis Lower School

Executive Determination meeting 17th December 2012

Agenda Item 3
Page 17

Agenda Item 3
Page 18

Original proposal and consultation

Houghton Regis

Lower School

Headteacher:
Mrs J C Gamble
Telephone: 01582 867487
Fax:
01582 867487
Email: houghtonregis@cbc.beds.sch.uk

St Michael’s Avenue
Houghton Regis
Dunstable
Beds
LU5 5DH
th
20 July 2012

CONSULTATION DOCUMENT ON A PROPOSAL TO EXTEND THE AGE RANGE OF
HOUGHTON REGIS LOWER SCHOOL, ST MICHAEL’S AVENUE, HOUGHTON REGIS,
BEDFORDSHIRE, LU5 5DH FROM 3 – 9 YEARS TO 3 – 11 YEARS
PURPOSE OF THIS CONSULTATION DOCUMENT

The purpose of this document is to provide information relating to the proposal to extend the age
range of Houghton Regis Lower School from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a full primary
school.

BACKGROUND

Houghton Regis Lower School provides well for its pupils. Local data shows that children achieve
well in our school and that standards achieved at the end of both Key Stage1 and Year 4 are
good.
National data shows that changing school impacts negatively on pupils’ progress. The transition
of our pupils at age 9 in the middle of their Key Stage 2 primary schooling disrupts continuity of
education.

We believe that our children would benefit from the stability of a primary school setting that is
organised to meet the specific learning needs of the upper Key Stage 2 child. National research
and data supports this view and consequently many Local Authorities have converted to a
primary/ secondary model.

We also believe that all children and families in Houghton Regis Lower School should have the
same choice as other families in the area who can choose to send their children to a primary
school until the age of 11 from September 2013.

Appendix A
Page 1 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 19

Original proposal and consultation
The Governing Body has requested Central Bedfordshire Council consider its request to change
the age range of the school to enable it to provide primary schooling to pupils up to age 11.

PROPOSAL

The Governing Body has applied to change the age range of Houghton Regis Lower School by
extending it from a 3 – 9 years to a 3 – 11 years full primary school.

It is proposed that there would be two stages of implementation starting in September 2013:
¾

¾

September 2013 – Year 4 children to remain in current setting and move in to Year 5
September 2014 – Year 5 children to remain in current setting and move in to Year 6

We have no plans to reintegrate pupils who are already in middle schools but will take children
who have moved to the area from another school or who do not have a school provision,
providing we do not exceed our admission number.
This would bring HRLS in line with other schools in Houghton Regis in September 2013.
SCHOOL CAPACITY
The current capacity of Houghton Regis Lower School is 225 children from Year R – Year 4 and
52 part-time nursery places. The proposed capacity is 315 children from Year R – Year 6 and 52
part-time nursery places.
This proposal would involve the provision of additional classrooms to accommodate Years 5 and
6 pupils.
Any buildings required for these changes would be subject to the normal planning permission
process, which would include consulting local residents, the Highways Agency and other
interested parties.
OBJECTIVES OF PROPOSAL
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11, 16 and

x

18;

x

and exceeding in years 5 and 6.

To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are underperforming

To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years, through
our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organization.

Appendix A
Page 2 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 20

Original proposal and consultation
x

To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of teaching and

x

learning on transfer at age 11 across Houghton Regis.

x

To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs.

x

To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith.

x

To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6.
To improve transition for children on transfer.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
If we are unsuccessful with this proposal the school will continue to operate as a lower school for
pupils aged 3 – 9 years.
TIMELINE

The alteration of a school’s age range must follow a prescribed democratic decision making
process. The following table outlines the indicative timeline to change the age range of Houghton
Regis Lower School.

Action

Start Date

Completion date

Consultation starts

20th July 2012

8 October 2012

Report on outcome of

9 October 2012

th

th

consultation produced by
school and submitted to Local
Authority

Statutory Notice period

22nd October 2012

3rd December 2012

Determination Meeting with

W/E 17 December 2012

th

Children’s Services drafted by
Local authority

Proposed implementation

1st September 2013

Appendix A
Page 3 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 21

Original proposal and consultation
Attached to this proposal is a Consultation Response Form. Please complete the form and return
it to the address provided.

Alternatively, responses to the consultation can be made by e-mail to:
houghtonregis@cbc.beds.sch.uk
th

A consultation meeting will be held on Friday 14 September 2012 at 6.00pm. with the Governors
of the school be to discuss the proposal.

Appendix A
Page 4 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 22

Original proposal and consultation
Consultation Response Form

Please read the consultation document and tell us what your views are. The questions on this
form are provided to help you do so, but you do not have to respond to all of them. If you prefer
not to use this form, you can also put your views in a letter.

Letters and forms should be returned to Houghton Regis Lower School, or responses can be sent
by e-mail to: houghtonregis@cbc.beds.sch.uk
th

All responses must be received by Monday 8 October 2012

Questions relating to the proposal

How much do you agree with the following statements? Please tick as appropriate.

1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Houghton Regis Lower School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Houghton Regis Lower School.

Strongly
agree

Agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor
disagree

Appendix A
Page 5 of 38

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

Agenda Item 3
Page 23

Original proposal and consultation
1c) I support the change in admissions number for Houghton Regis Lower School.

Strongly
agree

Agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor
disagree

Further comments:

Appendix A
Page 6 of 38

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

Agenda Item 3
Page 24

Original proposal and consultation
Are you responding as an individual or on behalf of an organisation?
Individual  Organisation (Please tell us which organisation)……………………………………..
Name: …………………………………………………………..………..
Address: …………………………………………………………..……..
…………………………………………………………………………….
…………………………………………………………………………….
Postcode: ……………………………………….
If you are responding as an individual, please tell us a little bit about yourself.
The following information will help us when considering your opinions and to make sure that we
are getting views from all sections of the community. All the questions are optional, and you can
give as little or as much information as you wish.
Please tell us if you fall into any of the following categories (please select all that apply)
Pupil (Please state at which school and in which Year Group) …………..…………………………

Parent/carer of child/children (Please state which school/s)…………..…………………………….

Parent/carer of pre-school child/children

School Governor (Please state which school/s) ……………………..……………………………….

School Staff (Please state which school/s) …………………...……………………………………….

Other (Please specify) …………………………………………………………………………………...
Gender
Male

Female

Transgender

Prefer not to say

Age
Under 18
18 - 24

25 - 34
35 – 44

45 – 54

65 and over

55 - 64

Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person?

Appendix A
Page 7 of 38

Yes

No

Agenda Item 3
Page 25

Original proposal and consultation
Ethnic Group
WHITE British
WHITE Irish
WHITE Other (Please write in)................................................
BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH Caribbean
BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH African
BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH Other (Please write in)..................................
MIXED White & Black Caribbean
MIXED White & Black African
MIXED White & Asian
MIXED Other (Please write in)...............................................
ASIAN Indian
ASIAN Pakistani
ASIAN Bangladeshi
ASIAN Other (please write in).................................................
CHINESE
OTHER (Please write in)....................................................
Data Protection Act 1998 Please note that your personal details supplied on this form will be held
and/or computerised by Houghton Regis Lower School and/or Central Bedfordshire Council for
the purpose of the consultation. The information collected may be disclosed to school staff and
officers and members of the Council and its partners involved in this consultation. Summarised
information from the forms may be published, but no individual details will be disclosed under
these circumstances. Your personal details will be safeguarded and will not be divulged to any
other individuals or organisations for any other purposes.

Appendix A
Page 8 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 26

Outcome of initial consultation

Houghton Regis

Lower School

Headteacher:
Mrs J C Gamble
Telephone: 01582 867487
Fax:
01582 867487
Email:
houghtonregis@cbc.beds.sch.uk

St Michael’s Avenue
Houghton Regis
Dunstable
Beds
LU5 5DH

Response to the consultation document on a proposal
to extend the upper age range of Houghton Regis Lower
School from 3-9 years to 3-11 years.
Purpose of this report:
The purpose of this report is to provide information and report on the
informal consultation relating to the proposal to extend the age range of
Houghton Regis Lower School from 3-9 years to 3-11 years to create a full
primary school.
OBJECTIVES OF PROPOSAL
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at
age 11, 16 and 18; Y6 data has been below ‘floor targets’ for three

x

consecutive years.

x

underperforming and exceeding in years 5 and 6.

x

years, through our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organisation.

To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are

To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary

To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of
teaching and learning on transfer at age 11 across Houghton Regis and
All Saints Academy in Dunstable.
Appendix A
Page 9 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 27

Outcome of initial consultation
x

To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education

x

regardless of faith.

x

To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6.

x

To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs.

To improve transition for children on transfer.

PROCESS OF INFORMAL CONSULTATION
Informal consultation period ran from 20th July 2012 to 8th October 2012. The
consultation consisted of a consultation document, a meeting for staff and unions
and a public meeting.
Consultation documents were sent to the following people:
Parents/Guardians of children currently attending Houghton Regis Lower School
Staff at Houghton Regis Lower School
The Chair of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including
Academies)
The Head teacher of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including Academies)
The Principal of Central Bedfordshire College
All members of Houghton Regis Town Council
All members of Dunstable Town Council
All Central Bedfordshire Councillors
Members of Parliament for South West Bedfordshire and Luton
Pre-school provision in Houghton Regis
Pre-school provision in Dunstable
Luton Borough Council
Pre-school provision in Luton between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
The Chair of Governors of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1
motorway
The Head teacher of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1
motorway
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff
All church leaders within Houghton Regis
Manager of Tithe Farm Neighbourhood Centre
Head of Early Intervention and Prevention, Central Bedfordshire Council
Head of School Support, Central Bedfordshire Council
Regular visitors to the school including hirers of the school premises
The consultation document was also available on the Central Bedfordshire
Learning Portal, the school website and publicised in Central Essentials.

Appendix A
Page 10 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 28

Outcome of initial consultation
A meeting for staff and Trade Unions was held on Friday 14thSeptember 2012
between 6.00 pm and 7.00 pm. All staff and Trade Unions officials were given
prior notice of this meeting in writing.
A meeting for parents and carers and staff was held on Wednesday 20th June
2012 between 7.00 and 8.00 pm. This meeting was attended by 114 people.
A public meeting was held on Friday 14th September 2012 between 6.00 and
7.00 pm. This meeting was attended by 31 people.
Pupils in Years 1 – 4 were also consulted during this time.
Questions relating to the proposal
Houghton Regis Lower School received 142 written responses.
Overall Collated Responses
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Houghton Regis Lower
School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree
138

4

0

0

0

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Houghton Regis Lower
School.

Strongly

Agree

Neither

Disagree

Appendix A
Page 11 of 38

Strongly

Don’t

Agenda Item 3
Page 29

Outcome of initial consultation
agree

agree nor

disagree

know

disagree

135

7

0

0

0

0

100 Parent / Carers Responses
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Houghton Regis Lower
School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree

97

3

0

0

0

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Houghton Regis Lower
School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor
disagree
1 (Parent

93

6

wanted
earlier
change)

6 Responses from other schools

Appendix A
Page 12 of 38

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

Agenda Item 3
Page 30

Outcome of initial consultation
1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Houghton Regis Lower
School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree

6

0

0

0

0

0

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Houghton Regis Lower
School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree

6

0

0

0

0

0

36 Other responses (including MP, Councillors, Staff and Unions)

1a) I support the proposed changes to the age range at Houghton Regis Lower
School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree

36

0

0

0
Appendix A
Page 13 of 38

0

0

Agenda Item 3
Page 31

Outcome of initial consultation

1b) I support the timescale plan of the age change at Houghton Regis Lower
School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree

36

0

0

0

0

0

Responses to points raised throughout informal consultation

Written Responses from Parents were 100% in support of the change.
Comments included:
• Many written responses indicated that parents believe the change to a primary
school should have happened sooner.
• Many parents felt it would be beneficial to their children to be educated in a two
tier education system. • Several parents with children higher up the education
system felt that their older child would have benefitted from a primary school
education and felt their child was not ready for a middle school environment.
• Parents felt the school served its community well and pupil achievements were
good.

Positive responses from local schools indicate that there is support for this
change which they believe will have a positive impact upon children’s learning,
progress and achievement. It was felt that a further two years at Houghton Regis
Lower School would enable pupils to become emotionally and behaviourally
more mature within an environment were they felt secure.
Appendix A
Page 14 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 32

Outcome of initial consultation
School staff commented that both the pupils and the school would benefit from
having upper Key Stage Two pupils within the school.
Positive responses were received from Councillor Goodchild and Councillor
Jones who felt that the change in age range at Houghton Regis Lower School
would complete their educational vision for the community of Houghton Regis.
In her letter of support to the Council, Councillor Goodchild wrote:
“Thank you for your email, notifying members of the informal consultation, which
began on Friday 20 July. I would like to take this opportunity of thanking those
officers who have supported the Head teacher - Mrs. J Gamble and the Chair of
Governors - Mr. G Morgan in identifying the solution for the additional
accommodation required to enable them to proceed to the consultation process
to extend their age range from the current 3-9 years to 3-11 years.”
“I would be delighted if Houghton Regis Lower School is allowed to join its peers,
with whom it worked assiduously on the proposals. This would represent a
successful conclusion to a campaign, which has seen all the lower schools in
Houghton Regis work together as never before, and I welcome it.”

Andrew Selous, Member of Parliament for SW Bedfordshire, fully supports the
proposal and has supported the Head teacher and Chair of Governors
throughout the Consultation.
Concerns raised:
The Head teacher and Chair of Governors received the following concerns.
Two Unions emailed the following comments:
“ I accept the suggestion made in this document that some 9 year old children
may benefit from staying an extra 2 years in a smaller familiar school before
facing a transition to KS 3 education”.
“I think parents should be consulted about such proposals. The document
mentions this, but does not give details of consultation with parents”.
Jean Collins –Voice
Parents have been fully consulted. The proposal has, in fact, been parent/carer
driven.
Appendix A
Page 15 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 33

Outcome of initial consultation

A meeting was held in the school hall on 20th June at 7.00 p.m. for parents and
carers after the Governors of the school received a petition signed by 234
parents/carers to support the change in age range of the school.
At the meeting parents expressed their wishes for the school to become a
primary school and asked how they could support the governors in their bid for
primary status.
Many offers of practical help were made by parents including the offer of support
from a father of two children at the school who has his own building company.
This parent subsequently gave the governors an estimate for the building of two
new classrooms. Several other parents came forward to offer their skills and
services and the suggestion of a self-build project was made by a group of
enthusiastic parents.

“I feel very strongly that any changes in age range at a school should only be
considered in consultation with all the other schools in the area.
My concerns range from the deficit budget, I would like to see how the school
propose to recoup this within one year if the LA will agree, to curriculum issues in
years 5 and 6 for subjects such as science, DT and foreign languages and of
course the effect this will have on teaching and non-teaching posts within the
school and the area”.
Norman Wright ATL
All schools have been fully consulted and no objections have been received.
Officers from CBC have agreed to loan the school monies to support the
construction of two new classrooms. The terms of the loan have not been
finalised.
The staff of the school are confident that a full, stimulating and exciting, primary
curriculum can be delivered. Several members of teaching staff have experience
in delivering a Year 5 and Year 6 curriculum in other regions. We will work
closely with other primary and secondary schools within Houghton Regis to share
resources and expertise. We will need to recruit staff to our school team if the
proposal goes ahead.
Other concerns raised by both other professionals and parents were related to
what would happen if the proposal did not go ahead i.e. “where would our
current Year 4 pupils transfer to?”
Public Meeting
The minutes of the meeting are attached.
No concerns were raised at the public meeting regarding the age range change.
Appendix A
Page 16 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 34

Outcome of initial consultation
Letters of support were received from Tom Waterworth (Principal –All Saints
Academy) and
Barry Day OBE (Chief Executive Greenwood Dale Foundation Trust)
All staff at the school are fully supportive of the proposal and no trade union
officials attended the meeting.
Pupil Comments
All pupils from Year 1 to Year 4 attending the school completed a simplified
questionnaire.
Over 95 % of replies indicated that the pupil would choose to continue to attend
this school and not transfer to a middle school at the end of Year 4.
The 5% who indicated they would like to move onto a middle school indicated
that they would like to join their elder sibling attending the middle school, have
their own locker, have pizza for tuck and join the rugby or football team.
The pupils gave very thoughtful answers to the questions within the
questionnaire and our Year 4 children enjoyed debating the subject in their
philosophy lesson.
The majority of the children’s comments indicated that they felt safe in the
school, the curriculum was fun, they enjoyed their topic work and learning new
things and they enjoyed the extra-curricula activities provided by the school. The
children also indicated they would like more PE lessons both during the school
day and after school.
Consultation forms and comments were received from past pupils who are
currently attending a local Middle school or an Upper school. These indicated
unanimous support for extending the upper age range of the school.
All the forms received from ex-pupils indicated that given the chance again they
would choose to stay at Houghton Regis School until the age of eleven.
Staff Comments
All staff fully support our proposal to extend our age range and become a primary
school.

Revisit and Review of Original Proposal in Light of Consultation
Further comments:
School Capacity
There was some concern as to how many new classrooms would be needed in
the future. The school currently has a small Year 4 group of children who in
September 2013 could be accommodated in one classroom. The current Year 3
group is much larger and if all the pupils stayed at the school two new
Appendix A
Page 17 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 35

Outcome of initial consultation
classrooms would be needed in September 2014. The school’s proposal allows
for the construction of two new classrooms using monies saved by the Governing
Body from the school’s revenue budget, which was to be directed towards
improving security at the school, and loaning the additional money from CBC. If,
in September 2014, all our Year 4 pupils stay at our school and do not transfer
into a middle school a new classroom would be required. This would then allow
capacity year groups to move through the school and transfer to a Secondary
School at the end of Year 6. Parental choice will impact upon future
accommodation needs.
Extended Services
As a school we provide many extended school activities. This includes a before
and after school club jointly run by Thomas Whitehead School and Houghton
Regis School. This club was initially set-up using National Lottery money and has
run successfully for six years. A parent has correctly identified that the club is
often over subscribed and booking ahead is necessary. If our proposal is
successful then future demand is likely to exceed current accommodation
facilities. We are committed to the future provision of a before and after school
club to meet parent/carer needs and have identified a way forward to continue
with this provision.

Working Together with Other Schools
We are committed to improving education and outcomes for all pupils in
Houghton Regis.
It is our aim to strengthen partnerships with local school leaders and
professionals to ensure all families are offered a wide range of services and
support to meet pupil and parent needs. We will continue to develop strong
relationships with local secondary schools and will ensure that transition between
primary and secondary school is a positive experience for everyone.
We will share resources to ensure that every pupil has access to a rich and
varied curriculum and equal opportunities to achieve to their potential.
Transport Strategy
We will revisit and update the school’s travel plan and work with the Council’s
sustainable transport officer to address any concerns raised by increasing our
NOR. A high proportion of consultation responses from parents/carers identified
the reduction in car journeys between Houghton Regis and Dunstable if the
proposal went ahead. Families will be able to walk to their local primary and
secondary school instead of driving their children between lower and middle
school. The governors see this as a positive aspect of the proposal.
Provisional analysis of available data indicates the number of families attending
the school will not, in the immediate future, significantly increase as the majority
of pupils staying into year five and year six will have younger siblings in other
Appendix A
Page 18 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 36

Outcome of initial consultation
classes at the school.

Alternative Options
If we are unsuccessful with this proposal the school will continue to operate as a
lower school for pupils aged 3-9 years.
Year four pupils transfer into a middle school in Dunstable or Toddington.
(Transport will be needed for many of our pupils.)
Year four pupils transfer for two years to a local primary school.
The Governing Body met on Tuesday 2nd October 2012 to look at the responses
and discuss the report on informal consultation. The following statement was
written by the Governing Body and was unanimously agreed.
Statement from Houghton Regis Lower School Governing Body regarding
The Proposal to Extend the Age Range at Houghton Regis Lower School
from 3-9 Years to 3-11 Years.
The Governing Body of Houghton Regis Lower School consists of a mix of parent
Governors, Community Governors, Staff Governors and LEA Governors.
We (The Governing Body of Houghton Regis Lower School) fully support the
proposal to extend the age range at Houghton Regis Lower School to become a
Primary School. The Governing Body plays an active role in the school and is
fully aware of the excellent achievement and progress made by children in the
school, and the contribution of the school’s management and of the school’s staff
to this achievement and progress.
This positive view is confirmed in the school’s last Ofsted Report (27th and 28th
February 2012).
Continuing at Houghton Regis School until the end of the primary years will offer
our pupils and their families consistency based on an extension of the high
quality education and pastoral support that the school currently provides and
Ofsted recognises.
Data from our excellent assessment and tracking systems shows that the
majority of our pupils leave Houghton Regis achieving well and reaching National
and Local expectations. Furthermore, the progress made by vulnerable groups
such as SEND and FSM is well above the LA average.
As a Governing Body we believe that Houghton Regis can offer an excellent and
exciting primary curriculum to pupils in year five and year six.

Appendix A
Page 19 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 37

Outcome of initial consultation
The Governing Body has had numerous discussions with our parents/carers and
the unanimous response is that they wholeheartedly support this proposal, the
only negative comments being “why has this not happened sooner?”
This proposal has been well thought through by the Governing Body over a
number of years. We realise that change can be challenging, however we are
strongly committed to making change happen for the benefit of our pupils,
families and the wider community.
The Governing Body feel very strongly that HRLS should be granted primary
status as other educational providers within Houghton Regis are changing, or are
proposing to change, to a two tier structure in September 2013. Parent and pupil
choice would be inhibited if this proposal is not implemented and pupils’
education could be negatively impacted upon by a very disrupted journey through
the local education system.
We believe it is extremely important to provide and support a consistent and
coherent approach to education within Houghton Regis.
We believe that this proposal to extend our pupils’ age range from 3-9 years to 311 years will support the development of well educated, well rounded citizens
who are emotionally, socially and educationally equipped to continue with lifelong learning.

Appendix A
Page 20 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 38

Statutory Notice

Proposal to extend the age range of Houghton Regis Community
Lower School from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary
school.

Notice is given in accordance with section 19(1) of the Education and Inspections Act
2006 that Central Bedfordshire Council intends to make a prescribed alteration to
Houghton Regis Community Lower School, St Michael’s Avenue, Houghton Regis,
Dunstable, Bedfordshire LU5 5DH from 1 September 2013.
The proposal is to change the age range of Houghton Regis Community Lower School
by extending it from a 3 – 9 years lower school to a 3 – 11 years primary school
This is to be implemented in two stages:
September 2013 - year 4 children will be retained at the school and become a new year
5. September 2014 - year 5 children will be retained at the school and become a new
year 6.
The current capacity of the school is 225 places in the main school plus provision for 52
part time nursery places. Following implementation the proposed capacity will be 315
places in the main school plus provision for 52 part time nursery places.
The current admission number for the main school is 45 for each year group. The
proposed admission number will remain the same. Total capacity for September 2013 is
expected to be 270 in the main school with 52 part time nursery places. Total capacity
for 2014 is expected to be 315 in the main school with 52 part time nursery places.
This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal
can be obtained from: The Information Manager, Central Bedfordshire Council, Room
DC2, Watling House, High Street North, Dunstable, Beds, LU6 1LF. It can also be
viewed on the Council's website at www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/schoolconsultations
Within six weeks from the date of publication of this proposal, any person may object to
or make comments on the proposal by sending them to The Deputy Chief Executive /
Director of Children's Services, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Chicksands,
Shefford, Beds, SG17 5TQ.
Signed: Edwina Grant
Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children’s Services
Publication Date: 22 October 2012
Explanatory notes

Appendix A
Page 21 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 39

Statutory Notice
It is proposed that extending the age range of Houghton Regis Community Lower School
from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary school will provide improved
standards in years 5 and 6 and therefore at the end of Key Stage 2. National data shows
that changing school may impact negatively on pupils’ progress and may result in a lack
of curriculum understanding, continuity, and assessment agreement. This proposal will
remove the transition at the end of year 4.
The provision will bring Houghton Regis Community Lower School into line with all other
Lower Schools in Houghton Regis, for which proposals to convert them to primary
schools were published and approved earlier this year.
The school cannot accommodate the additional pupils and two new classrooms will be
required from September 2013.

Appendix A
Page 22 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 40

Prescribed Information

PROPOSALS FOR PRESCRIBED ALTERATIONS OTHER
THAN FOUNDATION PROPOSALS: Information to be included
in a complete proposal
Extract of Part 1 of Schedule 3 and Part 1 of Schedule 5 to The School
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)(England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended):
In respect of a Governing Body Proposal: School and governing body’s details
1. The name, address and category of the school for which the governing body are
publishing the proposals.
N/A

In respect of an LEA Proposal: School and local education authority details
1. The name, address and category of the school.
Houghton Regis Community Lower School
St Michael’s Avenue
Houghton Regis
Dunstable
Bedfordshire
LU5 5DH

Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation
2. The date on which the proposals are planned to be implemented, and if they are to be
implemented in stages, a description of what is planned for each stage, and the number of
stages intended and the dates of each stage.
The proposal will be implemented from 1 September 2013 and will be phased over 2 years In September 2013 – year 4 children will be retained at school and become a new year 5.
In September 2014 – year 5 children will be retained at school and become a new year 6.

Appendix A
Page 23 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 41

Prescribed Information
Objections and comments
3. A statement explaining the procedure for making representations, including —
(a) the date prescribed in accordance with paragraph 29 of Schedule 3 (GB
proposals)/Schedule 5 (LA proposals) of The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), by
which objections or comments should be sent to the local education authority; and
(b) the address of the authority to which objections or comments should be sent.
Within six weeks from the date of publication of these proposals (i.e. by 3 December
2012), any person may object to or make comments on the proposal by sending them to
Edwina Grant, Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children's Services, Central
Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds, SG17 5TQ.

Alteration description
4. A description of the proposed alteration and in the case of special school proposals, a
description of the current special needs provision.
It is proposed that Houghton Regis Community Lower School will extend its age range from a
3-9 years lower school to a 3-11 years primary school.

School capacity
5.—(1) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1 to 4, 8 , 9
and 12-14 of Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/paragraphs 1-4, 7, 8, 18, 19 and 21 of Schedule 4
(LA proposals) to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)
(England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), the proposals must also include —
(a) details of the current capacity of the school and, where the proposals will alter the
capacity of the school, the proposed capacity of the school after the alteration;
The current capacity of the school is 225 pupils in the main school plus provision for 52
part-time nursery places. Following implementation, the proposed capacity will be 315
places in the main school plus provision for 52 part time nursery places.

(b) details of the current number of pupils admitted to the school in each relevant age
group, and where this number is to change, the proposed number of pupils to be
admitted in each relevant age group in the first school year in which the proposals
will have been implemented;
The school currently has an admission number of 45 at age 4+. This will not change.

(c) where it is intended that proposals should be implemented in stages, the number of
pupils to be admitted to the school in the first school year in which each stage will
have been implemented;

Appendix A
Page 24 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 42

Prescribed Information

There will be no change to the number of pupils to be admitted. However in September
2013 a new year 5 will be created and in September 2014 a new year 6 will be created to
enable pupils, who would have otherwise have had to leave the school at the end of year 4,
to remain.

(d) where the number of pupils in any relevant age group is lower than the indicated
admission number for that relevant age group a statement to this effect and details of
the indicated admission number in question.
The number of pupils in year groups 1, 3 and 4 are currently below the admission number
of 45 –
Year 1 – 34
Year 3 - 35

Year 4 – 28

(2) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1, 2, 9, 12 and 13
of Schedule 2 (GB proposals) /paragraphs 1, 2, 8, 18 ands 19 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals)
to The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended), a statement of the number of pupils at the school at the
time of the publication of the proposals.
The current number of pupils aged 4+ to 9 on roll is 198, plus 44 nursery aged pupils.

Implementation
6. Where the proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary controlled school a statement as
to whether the proposals are to be implemented by the local education authority or by the
governing body, and, if the proposals are to be implemented by both, a statement as to the
extent to which they are to be implemented by each body.
N/A

Additional Site
7.—(1) A statement as to whether any new or additional site will be required if proposals
are implemented and if so the location of the site if the school is to occupy a split site.
N/A

Appendix A
Page 25 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 43

Prescribed Information
(2) Where proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary school a statement as to who will
provide any additional site required, together with details of the tenure (freehold or
leasehold) on which the site of the school will be held, and if the site is to be held on a
lease, details of the proposed lease.
N/A

Changes in boarding arrangements
8.—(1) Where the proposals are for the introduction or removal of boarding provision, or
the alteration of existing boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of
Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4 to The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom it is intended that boarding provision will be made if
the proposals are approved;
N/A

(b) the arrangements for safeguarding the welfare of children at the school;
N/A

(c) the current number of pupils for whom boarding provision can be made and a
description of the boarding provision; and
N/A

(d) except where the proposals are to introduce boarding provision, a description of the
existing boarding provision.
N/A

(2) Where the proposals are for the removal of boarding provisions or an alteration to
reduce boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of Schedule 2 (GB
proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals) to The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom boarding provision will be removed if the proposals
are approved; and

Appendix A
Page 26 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 44

Prescribed Information
N/A

(b) a statement as to the use to which the former boarding accommodation will be put if
the proposals are approved.
N/A

Transfer to new site
9. Where the proposals are to transfer a school to a new site the following information—
(a) the location of the proposed site (including details of whether the school is to occupy
a single or split site), and including where appropriate the postal address;
N/A

(b) the distance between the proposed and current site;
N/A
(c) the reason for the choice of proposed site;
N/A

(d) the accessibility of the proposed site or sites;
N/A

(e) the proposed arrangements for transport of pupils to the school on its new site; and
N/A

(f) a statement about other sustainable transport alternatives where pupils are not using
transport provided, and how car use in the school area will be discouraged.
N/A

Appendix A
Page 27 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 45

Prescribed Information

Objectives
10. The objectives of the proposals.
x

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11,

x

16 and 18; Y6 data has been below ‘floor targets’ for three consecutive years.

x

underperforming and exceeding in years 5 and 6.

x

through our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organisation.

To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are

To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years,

To provide shared services between schools and to ensure continuity of teaching
and learning on transfer at age 11 across Houghton Regis and All Saints Academy

x

in Dunstable.

x

faith.

x

To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6.

x

To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of

To ensure our schools are based around communities and their needs.

To improve transition for children on transfer.

Consultation
11. Evidence of the consultation before the proposals were published including—
(a) a list of persons who were consulted;
(b) minutes of all public consultation meetings;
(c) the views of the persons consulted;
(d) a statement to the effect that all applicable statutory requirements in relation to the
proposals to consult were complied with; and
(e) copies of all consultation documents and a statement on how these documents were
made available.
Informal consultation was carried out between 20 July and 8 October 2012

(a) The following persons were consultedParents/Guardians of children currently attending Houghton Regis Lower School
Staff at Houghton Regis Lower School
The Chair of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including Academies)
All schools in Central Bedfordshire (including Academies)
The Principal of Central Bedfordshire College
All members of Houghton Regis Town Council
All members of Dunstable Town Council
All Central Bedfordshire Councillors
Members of Parliament for South West Bedfordshire and Luton
Pre-school provision in Houghton Regis

Appendix A
Page 28 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 46

Prescribed Information
Pre-school provision in Dunstable
Luton Borough Council
Pre-school provision in Luton between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
The Chair of Governors of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
The Head teacher of Luton schools between Poynters Road and the M1 motorway
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff
All church leaders within Houghton Regis
Manager of Tithe Farm Neighbourhood Centre
Head of Early Intervention and Prevention, Central Bedfordshire Council
Head of School Support, Central Bedfordshire Council
Regular visitors to the school including hirers of the school premises

(b) A public consultation meeting was held on 14 September 2012. The minutes of this
meeting are at Appendix A.

(c) The results of the informal consultation are at Appendix B
(d) All applicable statutory requirements in relation to the proposals to consult were
complied with.

(e) A copy of the consultation document is attached at Appendix C. This consultation
document was made available to all people listed in section (a) and was also publicised via
Central Bedfordshire Council’s publication ‘Central Essentials’ which is emailed weekly to
head teachers and chairs of governors within Central Bedfordshire.

Project costs
12. A statement of the estimated total capital cost of the proposals and the breakdown of
the costs that are to be met by the governing body, the local education authority, and any
other party.
Estimated capital cost of this proposal is £200,000 for 2 new classrooms.
The school is currently at capacity and has no spare accommodation to house year five
and six pupils.
Two new classrooms will be required from September 2013 to accommodate year five
pupils. The school would not need additional accommodation the following year and could
absorb year six pupils into the school.
The proposal is to build two new classrooms to provide accommodation for year five and
year six pupils. Current quotes from building companies have been received and
preliminary planning investigations have been undertaken.
The Governors of the school have funds of £120,000. Central Bedfordshire Council is to
support the proposed development with a loan of £80,000. The governors of the school will
submit a deficit budget in April 2013 until they are able to secure the £80,000 currently
required.
There is housing development within the school’s current catchment area and a proportion
of the Section 106 monies secured by CBC from developers for educational use in the
future may be allocated to support the project

13. A copy of confirmation from the Secretary of State, local education authority and the
Learning and Skills Council for England (as the case may be) that funds will be made
available (including costs to cover any necessary site purchase).

Appendix A
Page 29 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 47

Prescribed Information

Estimated capital cost of this proposal is £200,000 for 2 new classrooms.
The school is currently at capacity and has no spare accommodation to house year five
and six pupils.
Two new classrooms will be required from September 2013 to accommodate year five
pupils. The school would not need additional accommodation the following year and could
absorb year six pupils into the school.
The proposal is to build two new classrooms to provide accommodation for year five and
year six pupils. Current quotes from building companies have been received and
preliminary planning investigations have been undertaken.
The Governors of the school have funds of £120,000. Central Bedfordshire Council is to
support the proposed development with a loan of £80,000. The governors of the school will
submit a deficit budget in April 2013 until they are able to secure the £80,000 currently
required.
Their is housing development within the school’s current catchment area and a proportion
of the Section 106 monies secured by CBC from developers for educational use in the
future may be allocated to support the project

Age range
14. Where the proposals relate to a change in age range, the current age range for the
school.
The current age range is 3-9 across the school, including part time nursery provision.

Early years provision
15. Where the proposals are to alter the lower age limit of a mainstream school so that it
provides for pupils aged between 2 and 5—
(a) details of the early years provision, including the number of full-time and part-time
pupils, the number and length of sessions in each week, and the services for
disabled children that will be offered;
The school already caters for pupils aged 3-9 with 225 places in the main school plus 52
part time nursery places. The provision for nursery aged pupils will not change.

(b) how the school will integrate the early years provision with childcare services and
how the proposals are consistent with the integration of early years provision for
childcare;
The school currently has an admission number of 45 at age 4+. This will not change.

(c) evidence of parental demand for additional provision of early years provision;

Appendix A
Page 30 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 48

Prescribed Information

N/A

(d) assessment of capacity, quality and sustainability of provision in schools and in
establishments other than schools who deliver the Early Years Foundation Stage
within 3 miles of the school; and
N/A

(e) reasons why such schools and establishments who have spare capacity cannot
make provision for any forecast increase in the number of such provision.
N/A

Changes to sixth form provision
16. (a) Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school
provides sixth form education or additional sixth form education, a statement of how the
proposals will—
(i)

improve the educational or training achievements;

(ii)

increase participation in education or training; and

(iii)

expand the range of educational or training opportunities

for 16-19 year olds in the area;
N/A

(b) A statement as to how the new places will fit within the 16-19 organisation in an area;

N/A

(c) Evidence —
(i) of the local collaboration in drawing up the proposals; and
(ii) that the proposals are likely to lead to higher standards and better progression at the
school;

N/A

Appendix A
Page 31 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 49

Prescribed Information
(d) The proposed number of sixth form places to be provided.
N/A

17. Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school
ceases to provide sixth form education, a statement of the effect on the supply of 16-19
places in the area.
N/A

Special educational needs
18. Where the proposals are to establish or change provision for special educational
needs—
(a) a description of the proposed types of learning difficulties in respect of which
education will be provided and, where provision for special educational needs
already exists, the current type of provision;
It is believed that changing the age range will have a positive impact for pupils with
SEND and for vulnerable learners e.g. LAC, building on from the current good practice
already established in the school.
• The school has expertise in early intervention, resources and teaching
methodologies to support children who find learning hard.
• The school’s professional knowledge of how children learn will enable the school
to provide effective intervention from those practitioners who do this best.
• The school will continue with the good and supportive SEND provision already in
place and pupils will benefit from this for a further two years.
• Excellent work with families is already established to support all vulnerable
children, SEND, LAC.
• Over the years, the school has established excellent relationships with other
professionals in order to support pupils with SEND and their families and will
continue this for upper Key Stage 2 pupils. e.g. local specialist provision
• Children with SEND receive very effective support and as a result make good and
outstanding progress in the school.
•The school aims to support Gifted & Talented pupils within the school and to

Appendix A
Page 32 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 50

Prescribed Information
consider the role played by feeder schools.
• The school benefits from a highly skilled experienced SENCo.
• The two way sharing of information at transition will support more positive
outcomes for pupils with SEND and vulnerable learners.

(b) any additional specialist features will be provided;
N/A

(c) the proposed numbers of pupils for which the provision is to be made;
N/A

(d) details of how the provision will be funded;
N/A

(e) a statement as to whether the education will be provided for children with special
educational needs who are not registered pupils at the school to which the proposals
relate;
N/A

(f) a statement as to whether the expenses of the provision will be met from the school’s
delegated budget;
N/A

(g) the location of the provision if it is not to be established on the existing site of the
school;
N/A

Appendix A
Page 33 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 51

Prescribed Information

(h) where the provision will replace existing educational provision for children with
special educational needs, a statement as to how the local education authority
believes that the new provision is likely to lead to improvement in the standard,
quality and range of the educational provision for such children; and
N/A

(i) the number of places reserved for children with special educational needs, and
where this number is to change, the proposed number of such places.
N/A

19. Where the proposals are to discontinue provision for special educational needs—
(a) details of alternative provision for pupils for whom the provision is currently made;
N/A

(b) details of the number of pupils for whom provision is made that is recognised by the
local education authority as reserved for children with special educational needs
during each of the 4 school years preceding the current school year;
N/A

(c) details of provision made outside the area of the local education authority for pupils
whose needs will not be able to be met in the area of the authority as a result of the
discontinuance of the provision; and
N/A

(d) a statement as to how the proposer believes that the proposals are likely to lead to
improvement in the standard, quality and range of the educational provision for such
children.
N/A

Appendix A
Page 34 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 52

Prescribed Information
20. Where the proposals will lead to alternative provision for children with special
educational needs, as a result of the establishment, alteration or discontinuance of existing
provision, the specific educational benefits that will flow from the proposals in terms of—
(a) improved access to education and associated services including the curriculum,
wider school activities, facilities and equipment with reference to the local education
authority’s Accessibility Strategy;
(b) improved access to specialist staff, both educational and other professionals,
including any external support and outreach services;
(c) improved access to suitable accommodation; and
(d) improved supply of suitable places.
N/A

Sex of pupils
21. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to provide that a school which was an
establishment which admitted pupils of one sex only becomes an establishment which
admits pupils of both sexes—
(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the
provision of single sex-education in the area;
N/A

(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education; and
N/A

(c) details of any transitional period which the body making the proposals wishes
specified in a transitional exemption order (within the meaning of section 27 of the
Sex Discrimination Act 1975).
N/A

22. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to a school to provide that a school
which was an establishment which admitted pupils of both sexes becomes an establishment
which admits pupils of one sex only—
(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the
provision of single-sex education in the area; and
N/A

Appendix A
Page 35 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 53

Prescribed Information

(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education.
N/A

Extended services
23. If the proposed alterations affect the provision of the school’s extended services,
details of the current extended services the school is offering and details of any proposed
change as a result of the alterations.
Current extended school provision is run on an individual school basis. Shared services
include Parent Support Assistants who are jointly funded by all schools in Houghton Regis
and shared wrap around care between Houghton Regis Community Lower School and
Thomas Whitehead Voluntary Aided Church of England School of E VA Lower. There are
no plans to change these extended services.
This proposal will give the opportunity for joint extended school provision reflecting the
needs of the community and the aspirations of school leaders.
The school will work in partnership to provide a range of extended services:
• Parent Support Assistants - their work has been invaluable in supporting the
community.
• Parenting Support offer courses involving parenting e.g. Positive Parenting
Programme, Strengthening Families.
• Transition support for pupils, schools and families.
• Shared training for parents and staff.
• Use of combined clubs and a range of After School activities.
• Promotion of inter-school sport and other activities for the community.
• Commitment to wrap around care.
• Holiday activities for local children and their families.
• Workshops to support adult learning and encourage family learning.
• Support for vulnerable families and pupils e.g. Siblings group and Young Carers.
• Support for families in areas such as relationships, health and safety.
• Shared usage of extended outside services.

Appendix A
Page 36 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 54

Prescribed Information
Need or demand for additional places
24. If the proposals involve adding places—
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the need or demand for the particular places
in the area;
Demand for Year 5 and 6 places, which is the key element of this proposal, would arise
from the proposed re-organisation of all Lower and Middle School provision within
Houghton Regis to become a two tier (primary/secondary) area. All Saints Academy has
recently been approved to become an 11-18 secondary school, 4 other local lower schools
are approved to become primary with effect from September 2013 and Houghton Regis
Academy has recently commenced its consultation on a change of age range from 9-13 to
become 11-18. The proposal for Houghton Regis Community Lower School will therefore
match the intended future form of organisation for the area.
Should the proposal not be approved, year four pupils leaving the school may not have
access to a year five school place in Houghton Regis.

(b) where the school has a religious character, a statement and supporting evidence of
the demand in the area for education in accordance with the tenets of the religion or
religious denomination;
N/A

(c) where the school adheres to a particular philosophy, evidence of the demand for
education in accordance with the philosophy in question and any associated change
to the admission arrangements for the school.
N/A

25. If the proposals involve removing places—
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the reasons for the removal, including an
assessment of the impact on parental choice; and
The proposals will increase provision across the area and increase parental choice

(b) a statement on the local capacity to accommodate displaced pupils.
N/A

Appendix A
Page 37 of 38

Agenda Item 3
Page 55

Prescribed Information
Expansion of successful and popular schools
25A. (1) Proposals must include a statement of whether the proposer considers that the
presumption for the expansion of successful and popular schools should apply, and where
the governing body consider the presumption applies, evidence to support this.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies to expansion proposals in respect of primary and secondary
schools, (except for grammar schools), i.e. falling within:
(a) (for proposals published by the governing body) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to
Schedule 2 or paragraph 12 of Part 2 to Schedule 2;
(b) (for proposals published by the LA) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to Schedule 4 or 18 of
Part 4 to Schedule 4
of the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended).

N/A

Appendix A
Page 38 of 38

Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank

Prescribed information which accompanied the Statutory Notices – Page 16 to 31

Statutory Notice of the full proposal and representation period – Pages 14 to 15

Report of responses received and the outcome of the initial consultation – Pages 9 to 13

The school’s original proposal and consultation document – Pages 1 to 8

Index to Appendix B

Proposal to change age range of St Marys Catholic VA Lower School

Executive Determination meeting 17th December 2012

Agenda Item 3
Page 57

Agenda Item 3
Original proposal and consultation document

Page 58

Dunstable Road
Caddington
Dunstable
Bedfordshire LU1 4BB

Tel: (01582 602420)
Fax: (01582) 667191
Email: stmaryscadd@cbc.beds.sch.uk
Website: www.stmaryscatholiclower.co.uk

HEADTEACHER
Mr S. Chiswell, BA Ed (Hons)
ASSISTANT HEADTEACHER
Miss S. Nichol, BA, Cert.Ed.

CONSULTATION DOCUMENT ON A PROPOSAL TO EXTEND THE UPPER AGE RANGE OF
ST. MARY’S CATHOLIC LOWER SCHOOL, DUNSTABLE ROAD, DUNSTABLE,
BEDFORDSHIRE, LU1 4BB FROM 3 – 9 YEARS TO 3 – 11 YEARS
PURPOSE OF THIS CONSULTATION DOCUMENT

The purpose of this document is to ask for your views on a proposal to extend the upper age range of
St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years. Extending our age range would
create a full primary school.

BACKGROUND

St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School provides well for its pupils. However, we are ambitious for our
school and want to provide the best possible educational chances for children in the community we
serve.

At present pupils leave St. Mary’s at age 9 in the middle of their Key Stage 2 primary schooling. This
can affect their curriculum understanding, school continuity, and educational assessment.

We believe that our children would benefit from the stability of a primary school setting that is
organised to meet the specific learning needs of the upper Key Stage 2 child. National research and
data support this view and consequently the vast majority of Local Authorities have converted to a
primary / secondary model.

We also believe that children and families in Dunstable should have the same choice as those who
live in Houghton Regis, who can already choose to send their children to a primary school until the
age of 11. These families will have a greater choice of options from Sept 2013 with the expansion of 3
lower schools in the local area becoming primary schools and some local upper schools investigating
converting to secondary schools.

St. Mary’s Governing Body has therefore asked Central Bedfordshire Council to consider a request to
change the school’s age range to enable it to provide primary schooling for pupils up to age 11.

Appendix B
Page 1 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Original proposal and consultation document

Page 59

PROPOSAL

The Governing Body has applied to change the age range of St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School by
extending it from a 3 – 9 years lower school to a 3 – 11 years full primary school.
It is proposed that there would be two stages of implementation starting in September 2013:
x

x

September 2013 – Year 4 children to remain in current setting and move in to Year 5
September 2014 – Year 5 children to remain in current setting and move in to Year 6

We have no plans to reintegrate pupils who are already in middle schools but will take children who
have moved to the area from another school or who do not have a school provision, providing we do
not exceed our admission number.

In applying to change our upper age range it would bring us in line with St. Vincent’s Catholic Primary
School and the Catholic Schools in Luton whom we work closely with.

OBJECTIVES OF PROPOSAL
x

to provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years, through our

x

ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organisation

x

to secondary schools

to facilitate the continuity of Catholic education and provide access and a smoother transition

x

to raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11

x

or exceeding in years 5 and 6

x

to ensure our school is based around communities and its needs

to ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are either underperforming

x

to provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith

x

to provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6

x

to bring St. Mary’s in line with St. Vincent’s Primary School (the only other Catholic school for
this age range in the local Authority)
to make working at St. Mary’s more attractive and help us recruit and retain good quality staff
to improve the standard of education for our children

Appendix B
Page 2 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Original proposal and consultation document

Page 60

SCHOOL CAPACITY

The current capacity of St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School is 150 children from Reception – Year 4 and
26 part time nursery places for both morning and afternoon sessions. The proposed capacity is 210
children from Reception – Year 6 and to continue with the same provision for Nursery aged children.
The school has enough available classrooms to cater for an extended upper age range.
There would be no requirements for building work for the foreseeable future apart from refurbishing a
set of toilets. The cost for this work has been budgeted for in the 2012 – 2013 budget.

SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities):

Changing age range will have a positive impact for pupils with special educational needs and
disabilities and for vulnerable learners which will build on the current good practice already
established in our school. This is because:
x

x
x
x

we have the expertise in early intervention, resources and teaching methodologies to support
children who find learning hard
we believe that our professional knowledge of how children learn will enable us to provide
effective intervention
we will continue with the good and supportive SEND including gifted and talented provision
already in place and pupils will benefit from this for a further two years
children with SEND receive very effective support and as a result make positive progress in
our school

TRANSITION

In implementing this proposal we would be fulfilling our mission as a Catholic school to provide the
opportunities and continuity for all children to achieve in a Catholic setting. We would support
transition from St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School to any school place a parent chooses at any time. To
clarify, if they chose to stay with us for all their years of primary education, we would support the
transition at age 11 to the school of the parent’s choice. If they chose to go to a middle school we
would support this transition. If parents chose to go out of the authority, we would support that
transition as well. This is all about our ambition to provide continuity of Catholic education and support
the Deanery and the Council’s aim of raising standards.

Appendix B
Page 3 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Original proposal and consultation document

Page 61

WHAT WOULD THIS MEAN FOR ME AS A PARENT OR CARER?

Under the current age range at St Mary’s, all pupils leave at age 9. Under the proposal, you would
have the choice to keep your child at St Mary’s for an additional two years, until age 11. He or she
could then move up to a middle school or secondary school. If you would still prefer for your child to
leave St Mary’s at age 9 and move to a middle school, that choice would still be supported by the
school.

WORKING TOGETHER WITH OTHER SCHOOLS

St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School is fully committed to working together with the schools of the local
Learning Partnership and other Catholic schools in the Northampton Diocese. We are ready to work
in partnership with St. Vincent’s Catholic Primary School and other local primary schools to establish
a shared vision based on providing the very best outcomes for our children and their families. We aim
to provide a range of collaborative opportunities that will ensure continuity of provision for children and
their families. We will work collectively in partnership to secure value for money by sharing suppliers,
engaging in joint training and identifying shared priorities for school improvement.

EXTENDED SERVICES

This proposal will give the opportunity for joint extended school provision reflecting the needs of the
community and the aspirations of school leaders, including:x
x
x
x

x
x
x

x

transition support for pupils, schools and families
shared training for parents and staff
use of combined clubs and a range of After School activities
promotion of inter-school sport and other activities for the community
commitment to wrap around care
holiday activities
workshops to support adult learning and encourage family learning
support for vulnerable families and pupils eg Siblings group and Young Carers

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

If we are unsuccessful with this proposal the school will continue to operate as a Lower school for
pupils aged 3 – 9 years.

Appendix B
Page 4 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Original proposal and consultation document

Page 62

TIMELINE

The alteration of a school’s age range must follow a set decision making process. The following table
sets out the timetable to change the age range of St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School.

Action

Start Date

Completion date

Informal consultation

6 September 2012

Public Meeting

19 September 2012

th

th

18 October 2012

at 7.00 pm at the school

Publication

(Formal

nd

22 October 2012

publication of the proposal)

Representation (opportunities

rd

rd

23 October 2012

3 December 2012

for interested parties to make
their views known)

Decision made

Week

beginning

17

December 2012

Proposed implementation

st

1 September 2013

Attached to this proposal is a Consultation Response form.

Appendix B
Page 5 of 31

th

Agenda Item 3
Page 63

Original proposal and consultation document
Consultation Response Form

Please read the consultation document and tell us what your views are. The questions on this form
are provided to help you do so, but you do not have to respond to all of them. If you prefer not to use
this form, you can also put your views in a letter.

Letters and forms should be sent to the address at the bottom of this form, or responses can be sent
by e-mail to: stmaryscadd@cbc.beds.sch.uk
th

All responses must be received by Thursday 18 October 2012.

Questions relating to the proposal

How much do you agree with the following statements? Please tick as appropriate.

1) I support the proposed changes to the age range at St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School.

Strongly

Agree

agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

disagree

2) I support the timescale plan of the age change at St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School.

Strongly
agree

Agree

Neither

Disagree

agree nor
disagree

Appendix B
Page 6 of 31

Strongly

Don’t

disagree

know

Agenda Item 3
Original proposal and consultation document
Further comments:

( please continue on the reverse or on a separate sheet if necessary)
Please return this form to:

Mr. Steve Chiswell
Headteacher
St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School
Caddington
Dunstable
Dunstable Road
Bedfordshire.
LU1 4BB

Are you responding as an individual or on behalf of an organisation?
Individual  Organisation (Please tell us which organisation)……………………………………..
Name: …………………………………………………………..………..
Address: …………………………………………………………..……..
…………………………………………………………………………….
…………………………………………………………………………….
Postcode: ……………………………………….
The following information will help us when considering your opinions and to make sure that we are
getting views from all sections of the community. All the questions are optional, and you can give as
little or as much information as you wish.

Please tell us if you fall into any of the following categories (please select all that apply)
Pupil (Please state at which school and in which Year Group) …………..…………………………
Parent/carer of child/children (Please state which school/s)…………..…………………………….
Parent/carer of pre-school child/children
School Governor (Please state which school/s) ……………………..……………………………….
School Staff (Please state which school/s) …………………...……………………………………….
Other (Please specify) …………………………………………………………………………………...
Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person?

Yes

Please tell us your ethnic group

Appendix B
Page 7 of 31

No

Page 64

Agenda Item 3
Original proposal and consultation document

Page 65

WHITE British
WHITE Irish
WHITE Other (Please write in)................................................
BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH Caribbean
BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH African
BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH Other (please write in)..................................
MIXED White & Black Caribbean
MIXED White & Black African
MIXED White & Asian
MIXED Other (please write in)...............................................
ASIAN Indian
ASIAN Pakistani
ASIAN Bangladeshi
ASIAN Other (please write in).................................................
CHINESE
OTHER (please write in)....................................................

Data Protection Act 1998 Please note that your personal details supplied on this form will be held
and/or computerised by St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School and/or Central Bedfordshire Council for the
purpose of the consultation. The information collected may be disclosed to school staff and officers
and members of the Council and its partners involved in this consultation. Summarised information
from the forms may be published, but no individual details will be disclosed under these
circumstances. Your personal details will be safeguarded and will not be divulged to any other
individuals or organisations for any other purposes.

Appendix B
Page 8 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Page 66

Outcome of initial consultation
HEADTEACHER
asda
Mr S. Chiswell,
BA Ed (Hons)

Dunstable Road
Caddington
Dunstable
Bedfordshire LU1 4BB

ASSISTANT HEADTEACHER
Miss S. Nichol, BA, Cert. Ed

Tel: (01582 602420)
Fax: (01582) 667191

St Mary’s Catholic Lower School
REPORT ON THE CONSULTATION CONDUCTED WITH REGARD TO A PROPOSAL TO EXTEND
THE UPPER AGE RANGE OF ST. MARY’S VOLUNTARY AIDED CATHOLIC LOWER SCHOOL,
DUNSTABLE ROAD, DUNSTABLE, BEDFORDSHIRE, LU1 4BB FROM 3 – 9 YEARS TO 3 – 11
YEARS.
In July 2012 after many discussions at Governing Body and Diocesan meetings it was agreed to
submit a proposal to extend the upper age range of St. Mary’s to become a primary school. The
Governing Body of St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School are passionate in their vision of realising a
learning journey that is experienced in Catholic schools. We believe that our children should have the
same choice as families in Houghton Regis who can choose to send their children to a Catholic
primary school, namely St. Vincent’s. The importance of providing this stability for our children
remained at the centre of our discussions throughout.
During the consultation period the Governors and school staff have received a wide and encouraging
range of comments. The overwhelming majority of comments support the proposal.
PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
The purpose of this document is to provide information and report on the informal and formal
consultation relating to extending the upper age range of St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School from 3 – 9
years to 3 -11 years to create a primary school.
OBJECTIVES OF PROPOSAL
x
x
x

x

x
x

x

x
x

To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years, through our
ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organisation
To facilitate the continuity of Catholic education by fulfilling qualification criteria for admissions
to Catholic secondary schools. (JFK in Hemel, and Cardinal Newman in Luton)
To provide a smoother transition to secondary schools with admissions from year 7
To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11
To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are either
underperforming or exceeding in years 5 and 6
To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith
To ensure our school is based around communities and their needs
To bring St. Mary’s in line with St. Vincent’s Primary School (the only other Catholic school for
this age range in the local Authority)
To make working at St. Mary’s more attractive and help us recruit and retain good quality staff
to improve the standard of education for our children

Appendix B
Page 9 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Outcome of initial consultation

Page 67

PROCESS OF CONSULTATION
Our consultation has been extensive, parents were canvassed (in an informal way) for their thoughts
and opinions during the acdemic year 2011 – 2012. In September 2012 the consultation document
was published, meetings were held for parents of the school on 4 separate occasions, these were
held at different times of the day to enable as many people as possible to attend. A public meeting
th
was held on the 5 October. The following stakeholders were sent a copy of the consultation
document:
x

x

Parents/guardians of children currently attending St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School

x

The Catholic Diocese of Northampton

x

The Chairs of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)

x

x

The Parish of St. Mary’s Catholic Church, Dunstable

The Head teachers of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)

x

Catholic Schools in Luton

x

Hertfordshire County Council

x

The Catholic Secondary School in Hemel Hempstead – John F Kennedy

x

Luton Borough Council

x

St. Vincent’s Catholic Church

x

Caddington Parish Council

x

Downside Neighbourhood Centre

x
x
x
x
x

Central Bedfordshire County Council

Dunstable Town Council

Member of Parliament for Central Bedfordshire

Dunstable Library
Pre-school provision in Dunstable
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff

The consultation document was also available on our school website and was publicised on 2
occasions in Central Essentials.
The consultation document contained a questionnaire which would provide us with stakeholder views
on the proposal in particular regarding:
The proposed changes to the upper age range i.e. from 3 - 9 to 3 – 11.
The timescale plan for the change in age range, i.e. from September 2013.
On 6 September 2012 the consultation document was distributed to the community with a closing
date of 18 October. Questionnaires were collated and analysed by members of the Governing Body
and the Head teacher.
th

Within the consultation process 2 open meetings were held at St. Mary’s, one on Wednesday 19
th
September and one on Friday 5 October, these meetings were attended by staff, parents, governors,
a member of Northampton Diocese, local members of the community, staff and a governor from a
middle school and a representative from Central Bedfordshire County Council.

Appendix B
Page 10 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Outcome of initial consultation

Page 68

RESPONSES TO INFORMAL CONSULTATION
Raw Data Collected From the Consultation Document.
x 122 families of St Mary’s children received consultation forms
o 70% responded (85 out of 122)
o 95% agreed with the proposal (81 out of 85)
o 5% disagreed (4 out of 85)
x Approx 300 consultation documents were sent to interested parties
o 44% responded (132 out of 300)
o 95% agreed with the proposal (126 out of 132)
o 5% disagreed (6 out of 132)
What some parents said……
x
x

x
x
x

x

x

x
x
x
x
x

I would like my son to stay at St Mary’s school longer to get a better chance to carry on with
his Catholic education
Be easier for children to only have to start a new school twice rather than three times
Excellent idea. Most other Boroughs already have this in place and I feel it will benefit pupils
in the long run to stay in the same school until the end of Key Stage 2
This would be brilliant as it’s a worry to have to disrupt their education at age 9-11. Really
hope it goes ahead.
It can only benefit our children, school, church and community
I want my children to stay in Catholic education system. Feel 3-tier system is unsettling and
could hinder development. Not mature enough to move up
The change will help my child to complete Key Stage 2 without having to change school
I believe it’s a brilliant idea for the children to be able to complete the level 2 at a
lower/primary school
This is the only Catholic school in the area. I would also prefer my children in two-tier
education rather than three-tier education as I feel it is too young to change schools at the
age of nine. This is an added pressure they do not need
I currently have children in Middle School and 1 daughter in St Mary’s but my daughter loves
St Mary’s and she has come on so much better and I’m really pleased with her progress at St
Mary’s and would love for her to be able to stay on longer
As parents we feel the proposed plan will do nothing but benefit our children. We couldn’t be
happier with the prospect of being able to keep them in such a wonderful environment
another 2 years
I would like my son to stay at St Mary’s school longer to get a better chance to carry on with
his Catholic education

RESPONSES TO POINTS RAISED THROUGHOUT THE CONSULTATION
Minutes were recorded at both public meetings. These include issues raised by interested parties.
All points raised at our first public meeting were positive, our second public meeting was attended by
a local middle school, and their comments are included in the minutes of this meeting.
Through discussions with parents with children who have Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities (SEND) the ability for us as a school to provide for Years 5 and 6 children was high
on the agenda. We are confident that the changing of the age range will have a positive impact
for pupils with SEND for the reasons outlined below:
x

We have the expertise in early intervention, resources and teaching methodologies to support
children who find learning hard

Appendix B
Page 11 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Outcome of initial consultation
x
x
x
x
x

Page 69

We believe that our professional knowledge of how children learn will enable us to provide
intervention from those practitioners who know our children best.
We will continue with the good and supportive SEND provision already in place and pupils will
benefit from this for a further two years
Children with SEND receive very effective support
We aim to support Gifted & Talented pupils within our schools and to consider the role played
by feeder settings
Our school benefits from a highly skilled, experienced Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities Co-ordinator

A question was raised regarding the suitability of the building being able to house more
students.
The current capacity of St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School is 210 plus 52 part time places for Nursery
aged children, therefore with our projected numbers of no more than 210 plus 52 part time Nursery
places there will be no need for capital work at the school. St. Mary’s currently has 3 classrooms that
are not used to their full potential. In the first instance one of these will be used for a Year 5 class and
then the following year another would be used for a Year 6 class.
A question was raised concerning the number of parking spaces available to parents when
dropping children off and whether the school site could cope with the extra cars and would the
extra traffic put the safety of our children in jeopardy.
The school site recently had major work completed to make the site safer for the community. This
included new speed humps, a new path for our families to cross the road safely, new zebra crossings
and the closure of a road at the end of the school day to make the site even safer for pedestrians.
New parking places were also created. Parents are encouraged to use all car parks on the school
site. The ends of the school day for the 3 schools on the campus are staggered ensuring the site does
not have to cope with too large a number of cars at any one time.
The same stakeholder commented that the school would need to consider where Year 5 and 6
children would enter and leave school at the start and end of the school day, to relieve any
congestion of children and adults.
The SLT and governing body are aware that this aspect of the school will need to be well thought out
and are currently considering a number of options to ensure that this is not an issue. The older pupils
of the school will be coming to and leaving school independently which will also mean there will be no
more adults than we currently have at school at one time.
We received stakeholder comments from the Catholic community via St. Mary’s RC Church in
Dunstable who were very supportive of the proposal.
A number of Catholic parents have told us that they have chosen to send their children to Catholic
schools further away, purely so that they will receive a full Catholic primary education, and qualify for
admission to the nearest Catholic secondary schools. Therefore St. Mary’s becoming a primary
school would provide a more suitable alternative for them.

We have received both an informal and subsequently a formal written response from Senior
Leadership Team and Governors at Streetfield Middle School who strongly disagreed with the
proposal
Streetfield Middle School created a booklet explaining their opposition to our proposal, which was
used to canvas St Mary's and Streetfield parents. It was distributed outside our school gates. Despite
this 94% of our parents still agreed with this proposal. We believe that Streetfield Middle intend to
respond directly to the Council during Representations opposing our plans. We do not believe that
these responses can represent the informed opinion of any community, since only three people

Appendix B
Page 12 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Outcome of initial consultation

Page 70

associated with Streetfield attended our public meeting to fully understand the proposal. The three
attendees were the Head teacher, a Deputy, and their Chair of the Governors. A letter was
subsequently received from the school outlining their concerns.
Among our respondents were parents with children at both St Mary's and Streetfield 82% (14 out of
17) of these parents agreed with the proposal.
REVISIT AND REVIEW OF ORIGINAL PROPOSAL IN THE LIGHT OF THE CONSULTATION
In light of the information received from the consultation we believe that progressing with our proposal
to extend the age range at St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School to become a primary school is the way
forward for our families. The vast majority of parents are clearly in favour of the change and believe
that their children will continue to make good progress if they remained at St. Mary’s School to
complete Key Stage 2. Parents also feel that by completing their primary education at one school their
children will benefit both emotionally and academically. The transition to secondary school therefore
should be smoother and their learning less likely to suffer from interruption. The proposal clearly
outlines how the change of age range will be managed and strongly promotes the benefits to our
children and community of St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School becoming a primary school. The school
has the capacity to enable this to happen. The strategies we use to support children with special
educational needs and disabilities are effective as we have the expertise to support these children
because of our primary based training and detailed knowledge of their individual needs, facilitating our
drive to ensure that every child reaches his/her full potential. Our transition work will continue to
ensure that there is a support network for children moving on to their next school. We will work closely
with all of the receiving schools regardless of whether they are Catholic, middle or secondary schools.
St Mary’s will continue an active role in the ‘Learning Partnership’ as working together with other
schools is vital in order to embrace new ideas, practices and partnerships. Schools should be based
around communities and their needs and comments at the public meetings indicate clearly that
parents need this kind of support beyond the time their children finish in Year 4. We shall continue to
work very closely with our neighbouring schools to nurture close working relationships with our
parents and families.
GOVERNING BODY STATEMENT
We (the Governing Body of St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School) propose to extend the upper age range
from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years, to create a full primary school, shaped by Catholic principles, to
ensure each child is provided with a continuous and church based education structured around
stability, consistency and continuity of learning. The impact of Catholic / Christian values on pupils
and the school community is a strength and this would continue to be a strength if St. Mary’s was to
increase its age range. The Governing Body has confidence in the Head teacher and themselves to
drive forward the proposed change. The leadership and management of St. Mary’s Catholic Lower
School know that good practice already exists in our school and we are very optimistic about the
impact this practice will have on the upper Key Stage 2 teaching and learning. We feel strongly that
children up to the end of Year 6 should have a Primary education. The management and delivery of
the curriculum in a primary school, by highly qualified and skilled primary teachers, will meet the
needs of all children. Vulnerable children will cope far better remaining in a primary school for two
more years and with increased maturity will be able to adjust more readily and will be more able to
adjust at the age of 11 than at the age of 9 to a larger school environment. This is what our parents
want and we are committed to ensure that this happens for 2013.

Appendix B
Page 13 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Statutory Notice

Page 71

St Mary’s Catholic Lower
School
Proposal to extend the age range of St. Mary’s Catholic Voluntary Aided Lower School
from 3 to 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary school.
Notice is given in accordance with section 19(3) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 that
The Governing Body of St. Mary’s Catholic Voluntary Aided Lower School intends to make a
prescribed alteration to St. Mary’s Catholic Voluntary Aided Lower School, Dunstable Road,
Caddington, Dunstable, Bedfordshire, LU1 4BB from 1 September 2013.
The proposal is to change the age range of St. Mary’s Catholic Voluntary Aided Lower School by
extending it from a 3 – 9 years lower school to a 3 – 11 years primary school.
This is to be implemented in two stages:
September 2013 – Year 4 children will be retained at the school and become a new year 5.
September 2014 – Year 5 children will be retained at the school and become a new year 6.
The current capacity of the school is 150 with 52 part time nursery places and when the proposals
are implemented the proposed capacity will be 210 with 52 part time nursery places.
The current admission number for the school is 30 for year groups R – Y4 with 52 part time
nursery places. The proposed admission number will remain the same. Total capacity for
September 2013 is expected to be 180 with 52 part time places. Total capacity for 2014 is
expected to be 210 with 52 part time nursery places.
This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal can be
obtained from: The Information Manager, Central Bedfordshire Council, Room DC2, Watling House,
High Street North, Dunstable, Beds, LU6 1LF. It can also be viewed on the Council’s website at
www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/schoolconsultations and the school website
http://www.stmaryscatholiclower.co.uk/
Within six weeks from the date of publication of this proposal, any person may object to or make
comments on the proposal by sending them to The Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Children’s
Services, Central Bedfordshire Council, Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire, SG17
5TQ.
Signed: Mr. Richard Neal
Chairman of the Governors, St. Mary’s Catholic Voluntary Aided Lower School
Publication Date: 22nd October 2012
Explanatory notes
It is proposed that extending the age range of St. Mary’s Catholic Voluntary Aided Lower School
from 3 – 9 years to 3 – 11 years to create a primary school will provide improved standards in
years 5 and 6 and therefore at the end of Key Stage 2. National data shows that changing school
may impact negatively on pupils’ progress and may result in a lack of curriculum understanding,

Appendix B
Page 14 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Statutory Notice

Page 72

continuity, and assessment agreement. This proposal will remove the transition at the end of year
4. This proposal will also bring the school in line with the other Catholic school for this age range
within the local authority.

Appendix B
Page 15 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information

PROPOSALS FOR PRESCRIBED ALTERATIONS OTHER THAN
FOUNDATION PROPOSALS: Information to be included in a
complete proposal
Extract of Part 1 of Schedule 3 and Part 1 of Schedule 5 to The School
Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools)(England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended):
In respect of a Governing Body Proposal: School and governing body’s details

1. The name, address and category of the school for which the governing body are publishing
the proposals.
St. Mary’s Catholic Voluntary Aided Lower School,
Dunstable Road,
Caddington,
Dunstable,
Bedfordshire, LU1 4BB
In respect of an LEA Proposal: School and local education authority details

1. The name, address and category of the school .
N/A
Implementation and any proposed stages for implementation

2. The date on which the proposals are planned to be implemented, and if they are to be
implemented in stages, a description of what is planned for each stage, and the number of
stages intended and the dates of each stage.
Implementation to take place in September 2013
x Two stages of implementation
x September 2013 – Year 4 children to remain in current setting and move in to Year 5
x September 2014 – Year 5 children to remain in current setting and move in to Year 6
We have no plans to reintegrate pupils who are already at other local middle schools but
will take children who have moved to the area from another school or who do not have school
provision, providing we do not exceed our admission number.

Objections and comments

3. A statement explaining the procedure for making representations, including—
(a) the date prescribed in accordance with paragraph 29 of Schedule 3 (GB
proposals)/Schedule 5 (LA proposals) of The School Organisation (Prescribed
Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended), by which
objections or comments should be sent to the local education authority; and
(b) the address of the authority to which objections or comments should be sent.

Appendix B
Page 16 of 31

Page 73

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information

(a)

Page 74

03/12/2012

(b)

The Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children's Services, Central Bedfordshire Council,
Priory House, Chicksands, Shefford, Beds, SG17 5TQ.

Alteration description

4. A description of the proposed alteration and in the case of special school proposals, a
description of the current special needs provision.
The current upper age range would be extended from 9 to 11 years old (upper year would change
from Year 4 to Year 6).
St. Mary’s would change from a Lower School to a Primary School.

School capacity

5.—(1) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1 to 4, 8 , 9 and 1214 of Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/paragraphs 1-4, 7, 8, 18, 19 and 21 of Schedule 4(LA
proposals) toThe School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended), the proposals must also include—
(a) details of the current capacity of the school and, where the proposals will alter the
capacity of the school, the proposed capacity of the school after the alteration;
x
x

The current capacity of the school is 30 per year group (Years R – 4) 150 plus 52 part
time Nursery places
The proposed capacity after the alteration will remain at 30 per year group (Years R – 6)
but there will be 8 year groups including Nursery making our roll number 210 (plus 52
part time places)

(b) details of the current number of pupils admitted to the school in each relevant age group,
and where this number is to change, the proposed number of pupils to be admitted in
each relevant age group in the first school year in which the proposals will have been
implemented;
x
x

No capacity change per year group
The current capacity of the school to remain at 30 per year group (Years R – 6) and also
to remain at 52 part time places for Nursery

(c) where it is intended that proposals should be implemented in stages, the number of
pupils to be admitted to the school in the first school year in which each stage will have
been implemented;
x

Stage1: No change to the expected number of admissions, increase in overall roll is by
pupils in year 4 remaining for year 5. The first stage of the proposal will mean we could have
180 on roll excluding nursery (232 including 52 part time Nursery places). We will then have
N - Yr 5, age 3 to 10 yrs

Appendix B
Page 17 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Page 75

Prescribed Information
x

Stage2: No change to the expected number of admissions, increase in overall roll is by
pupils in year 5 remaining for year 6. The second stage of the proposal will mean that the
number on roll could be 210 excluding nursery (262 including 52 part time Nursery places).
We will then have N-Yr6, age 3 to 11yrs

(d) where the number of pupils in any relevant age group is lower than the indicated
admission number for that relevant age group a statement to this effect and details of the
indicated admission number in question.
Maximum projected number on roll
Sept
2013

Sept
2014

Sept
2015

Sept
2016

Sept
2017

Sept
2018

Sept
2019

N

52(part
time)

52(part
time)

52(part
time)

52(part
time)

52(part
time)

52(part
time)

52(part
time)

R

30

30

30

30

30

30

30

1

30

30

30

30

30

30

30

2

27

30

30

30

30

30

30

3

30

27

30

30

30

30

30

4

27

30

27

30

30

30

30

5

25

27

30

27

30

30

30

6

0

25

27

30

30

30

30

Total

221

251

256

259

262

262

262

(2) Where the alteration is an alteration falling within any of paragraphs 1, 2, 9, 12 and 13of
Schedule 2 (GB proposals) /paragraphs 1, 2, 8, 18 ands 19 of Schedule 4 (LA proposals)to the
School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007
(as amended), a statement of the number of pupils at the school at the time of the publication of
the proposals.
There are 137 pupils plus 26 part time Nursery pupils at the school at the time of the publication
of the proposal.

Implementation

6. Where the proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary controlled school a statement as to
whether the proposals are to be implemented by the local education authority or by the governing
body, and, if the proposals are to be implemented by both, a statement as to the extent to which
they are to be implemented by each body.
N/A
Additional Site

7.—(1) A statement as to whether any new or additional site will be required if proposals are
implemented and if so the location of the site if the school is to occupy a split site.
N/A

Appendix B
Page 18 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information

Page 76

(2) Where proposals relate to a foundation or voluntary school a statement as to who will
provide any additional site required, together with details of the tenure (freehold or leasehold)
on which the site of the school will be held, and if the site is to be held on a lease, details of the
proposed lease.
N/A
Changes in boarding arrangements

8.—(1) Where the proposals are for the introduction or removal of boarding provision, or the
alteration of existing boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of Schedule 2
(GB proposals)/7 or 14 of Schedule 4toThe School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom it is intended that boarding provision will be made if the
proposals are approved;
N/A
(b) the arrangements for safeguarding the welfare of children at the school;
N/A
(c) the current number of pupils for whom boarding provision can be made and a description
of the boarding provision; and
N/A
(d) except where the proposals are to introduce boarding provision, a description of the
existing boarding provision.
N/A
(2) Where the proposals are for the removal of boarding provisions or an alteration to reduce
boarding provision such as is mentioned in paragraph 8 or 21 of Schedule 2 (GB proposals)/7 or
14 of Schedule 4(LA proposals)toThe School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained
Schools) (England) Regulations 2007 (as amended) —
(a) the number of pupils for whom boarding provision will be removed if the proposals are
approved; and
N/A
(b) a statement as to the use to which the former boarding accommodation will be put if the
proposals are approved.
N/A

Appendix B
Page 19 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information
Transfer to new site

9. Where the proposals are to transfer a school to a new site the following information—
(a) the location of the proposed site (including details of whether the school is to occupy a
single or split site), and including where appropriate the postal address;
N/A
(b) the distance between the proposed and current site;
N/A
(c) the reason for the choice of proposed site;
N/A
(d) the accessibility of the proposed site or sites;
N/A
(e) the proposed arrangements for transport of pupils to the school on its new site; and
N/A
(f) a statement about other sustainable transport alternatives where pupils are not using
transport provided, and how car use in the school area will be discouraged.
N/A
Objectives

10. The objectives of the proposals.
Objectives
x

x

x
x
x

x
x
x

x

To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years, through
our ethos, curriculum, teaching and learning organisation
To facilitate the continuity of Catholic education by fulfilling qualification criteria for
admissions to Catholic secondary schools. (JFK in Hemel, and Cardinal Newman in
Luton)
To provide a smoother transition to secondary schools with admissions from year 7
To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11
To ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are either
underperforming or exceeding in years 5 and 6
To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith
To ensure our school is based around communities and their needs
To bring St. Mary’s in line with St. Vincent’s Primary School (the only other Catholic school
for this age range in the local Authority)
To make working at St. Mary’s more attractive and help us recruit and retain good quality
staff to improve the standard of education for our children

Appendix B
Page 20 of 31

Page 77

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information
Principles
The need to raise standards and improve outcomes for young people.
x

x

x
x

Local data shows that children achieve well in lower schools from a starting point
which is below national levels
Local data indicates that the number of students achieving 5+ GCSEs A* - C is below
national average
Increasingly, as professionals, we believe our children would benefit from the stability of a
primary school environment, its organisation and its ethos
We believe that primary schools will also improve behaviour, supporting pupils for whom
coping in Years 5 & 6 with the changes associated with transition, may put them at risk of
exclusion

To ensure there is continuity of provision across the 0 – 19 age range so there is a ‘one phase’
approach to learning.
x Current key stage planning is geared around the structure used by the majority of schools
in the UK. This means that the key stage boundaries align with the two tier system
x The need for transition between each tier, particularly in the middle of Key Stages can
result in lack of curriculum understanding, continuity, assessment agreement and
ownership of Key Stages
x Continuity of provision will provide curriculum continuity avoiding repetition and curriculum
conflict
x Primary / secondary provision will reduce the number of times a child needs to move
schools, it also makes transition and curriculum continuity easier because it sits at the end
of a key stage, the natural transition for the vast majority of schools in the Country
Schools should be based around communities and their needs
x As shown in Appendix B, our parents are overwhelmingly supportive of this proposal,
therefore we are meeting their needs
x By maintaining and extending lower school provision to age eleven and developing
partnerships with good secondary education, St. Mary’s will be better positioned to meet
this principle
x By maintaining the excellent relationships between our school and our families
x By providing appropriately for the needs of the primary child through a primary curriculum
delivery and a familiar environment that has knowledge of the individual child and their
families
x By meeting the needs of parents and families in years 5 & 6 through the close working
relationships that have been nurtured over the years
x The Catholic community needs provision of Catholic primary education to yr 6 to qualify for
admission to Catholic secondary schools
x Our school works in close cooperation with our local church community, and this is an
opportunity to extend this for an additional 2 years
x This proposal specifically meets the needs of local parents who prefer that their children
stay in a smaller year group setting until age eleven
x We have been made aware that Catholic families are choosing not to send their children to
St. Mary’s because we don’t currently provide Yrs 5 and 6. They are therefore choosing to
send their children to other local Catholic schools and on occasion travelling further.
New models of leadership and governance for schools should be considered
x Work collectively in partnership between primary and secondary phases enabling staffing
flexibility across schools
x Address shortages of Governors and explore the sharing of expertise and resources in this
field
x Secure “Best Value” by sharing suppliers, engaging in joint training and identifying shared
priorities for school improvement
That vision should reflect recent current reform

Appendix B
Page 21 of 31

Page 78

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information
x
x

x

The curriculum is based on a primary / secondary model in line with the rest of the country
Current primary and secondary curriculum and assessment initiative can be addressed
effectively
The 2006 EIA amendment to the education act places duties on local authorities to secure
diversity in the provision of schools, and increase opportunities for parental choice. This
proposal supports this amendment by increasing parental choice, and diversity of
educational provision

Effect on school standards and school improvements
Leadership and Management
St Mary’s has strong and confident leadership and the professional capacity and skills to drive
forward the proposed changes, through:
x Working closely with local schools in the Learning Partnership and Catholic schools in
Luton and Houghton Regis
x Shared governor meetings that focus more strongly on strategic direction and to set high
expectations for our schools
x Exploring more flexible approaches to school governance through sharing expertise
x Shared senior leadership that allows us to work together to agree a vision for our schools,
raise standards and share targets for school and community improvement
x Collaborative work on curriculum initiatives for upper KS2, building on the good practice
that already exists in years 3 and 4
x Sharing the expertise and experience of upper key stage 2 that already exists within our
schools
x Working in partnership with St Vincent’s and other local schools, who have already
extended their age range to 11
x Sharing a range of bought in services
We also believe that a full primary school provides greater career development opportunities for
new and existing staff than lower schools, and may be more attractive to new applicants.
Curriculum
We believe that curriculum delivery is paramount to enable all pupils to have opportunities to
become successful learners, confident individuals and responsible citizens. This will be achieved
through an engaging, challenging and purposeful primary curriculum that better meets the learning
styles and needs of our pupils and we will address this in the following ways:
We acknowledge there will be a significant impact on our school in the delivery, resourcing and
teaching of some specialist subject areas, and we appreciate that the curriculum for Years 5 and 6
will need careful planning. We will do this by:
x A current member of staff will be appointed as the Year 5 teacher and will prepare in the
Spring and Summer terms with the full support of the senior leadership team
x Following the national curriculum that sets out clearly the core knowledge and
understanding that all children should be expected to acquire in their later primary years
x Visits to other good/outstanding primary provision to see good practice, planning, teaching,
learning and pastoral care
x Joint training and curriculum planning for Key Stage 2
x Working with local Primary Schools
x Curriculum leaders working together
x Sharing good practice, resources, facilities and expertise with partnership feeder
schools
Teaching styles within upper Key Stage 2 will promote opportunities to further develop learning &
thinking skills and independence through an enquiry based and reflective teaching style which will
meet the needs of a range of learners. CPD will focus on innovative teaching, learning and in
giving teachers the confidence to support all children to progress.
We will continue to update our own knowledge and understanding of assessment in line with new

Appendix B
Page 22 of 31

Page 79

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information
government legislation. We already benefit from the expertise of two members of staff who have
experience of teaching and assessing upper Key Stage 2.
Target setting and monitoring will continue, as a whole school approach, as this
has already proved successful. We will moderate with other providers of Year 5 and 6. We will
continue to build upon high standards of APP to assess learning and meet individual needs
through successful interventions. Pupils will be involved in their own self-assessment of progress
and setting learning goals for the future.
Our school has a strong commitment to PSHCE within a Catholic environment and keeping
children safe. We recognise the different challenges faced by upper KS 2 pupils and have strong
links to local initiatives which will support their PSHE development e.g. SRE, Mental health.
Parents and community
Ensuring that this school system works for our families by promoting the confidence of our
parents and fully engaging with them and the community through:
x
x

Making ourselves accountable to our stakeholders
Knowledge of families and the community, meaning our school is well placed to
address parental concerns
x Continuing to seek views and acting on this feedback at a wider community level
x Continuing the current very good practice that exists within our school
e.g. Parent/carer workshops on curriculum matters, open door policy which
encourages good communication and supporting children at home
Our initial research shows that parents are in favour of primary schooling which will promote
increased confidence within the local community that the education system is geared to local need
and reflects parental wishes.
Behaviour
Evidence from Ofsted reports, SIP reports and LA exclusion data show that behaviour is very well
managed in our school. This is due to established behaviour management strategies that are
successful for the following reasons:
x We have in depth knowledge of our children and families and we make it a priority to build
excellent relationships, especially with our more vulnerable families
x We use a wide range of support mechanisms (including external agencies and small group
work)
x We have a consistent approach to behaviour management that is known and
understood by all
x We have positive effects on groups that tend to underperform; vulnerable learners, low
achievers etc. because the school knows these children well.
x A familiar environment and favourable staffing ratio means that the school can continue to
meet the needs of children, able to address behaviour management
Transition
Transition is a major key to successful lifelong learning. In order to achieve successful transition for
all, there needs to be effective communication between different settings.
Good transition is fundamental to the success of this proposal; we are fully committed to work with
all future providers having agreed processes for transfer at age 11 so that the school journey
becomes seamless. In order to achieve this seamless transition we will ensure that there is :
x A shared curriculum, teaching, support, expertise and delivery as a two way process
x The sharing of data, target setting and assessments where there is a mutual trust of
judgements and information
x A commitment to joint working over transition periods including post transition
x Leadership of transition
x Pupil involvement in their planned transition

Appendix B
Page 23 of 31

Page 80

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information
x

Pupils whose parents choose to transition at the end of year 6 to a secondary school, may
only experience one transition event before the age of 19

SEND
We feel that changing age range will have a positive impact for pupils with SEND and for
vulnerable learners e.g. LAC, building on from the current good practice already established in our
school.
x We believe that our professional knowledge of how children learn will enable us to provide
effective intervention
x Our school benefits from a highly skilled, experienced SENCo, we will continue with the
good and supportive SEND provision already in place and pupils will benefit from this for a
further two years
x Excellent work with families is already established to support all vulnerable children, SEND
and LAC
x Over the years, we have established excellent relationships with other professionals in
order to support pupils with SEND and their families and will continue this for upper Key
Stage 2 pupils
x We aim to maintain and share specialist staff already employed by our schools to support
SEND
x We aim to support Gifted & Talented pupils within our schools and to consider the role
played by feeder settings and transition schools
x The two way sharing of information at transition will support positive outcomes for pupils
with SEND and vulnerable learners
Extended Services
This proposal will provide the opportunity to develop extended school provision reflecting the needs
of the community.
We will work to provide a range of extended services
x Transition support for pupils and families
x Shared training for parents and staff
x Clubs and a range of after school activities
x Promotion of inter school sports and other activities for the community
x Commitment to “wraparound care” (breakfast and after school clubs)
x Workshops to support adult learning and encourage family learning
x Support for vulnerable families and pupils
x Support for families in areas such as relationships and health and safety
Consultation

11. Evidence of the consultation before the proposals were published including—
(a) a list of persons who were consulted;
(b) minutes of all public consultation meetings;
(c) the views of the persons consulted;
(d) a statement to the effect that all applicable statutory requirements in relation to the
proposals to consult were complied with; and
(e) copies of all consultation documents and a statement on how these documents were
made available.
Informal consultation was carried out between 6 September and 18 October 2012
x

(a) The following persons were consultedx

Parents/guardians of children currently attending St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School
The Catholic Diocese of Northampton

Appendix B
Page 24 of 31

Page 81

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information
x
x

The Parish of St. Mary’s Catholic Church, Dunstable

x

The Head teachers of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)

x

The Catholic Secondary School in Hemel Hempstead – John F Kennedy

x

Luton Borough Council

x

St. Vincent’s Catholic Church

x

x

x
x

The Chairs of Governors of all schools in Central Bedfordshire (including academies)

Catholic Schools in Luton

Hertfordshire County Council

Central Bedfordshire County Council

x

Dunstable Town Council

x

Member of Parliament for Central Bedfordshire

x

Dunstable Library

x
x
x

Caddington Parish Council

Downside Neighbourhood Centre

Pre-school provision in Dunstable
All relevant Trade Unions for both Teaching and Support staff

(b) A consultation meeting for parents at the school was held on 19 September 2012 and a
public consultation meeting was held on 5 October 2012. The minutes of these minutes are
attached at Appendix A(1) and A(2)
(c) The results of the informal consultation are attached at Appendix B.
(d) All applicable statutory requirements in relation to the proposals to consult were complied
with.
(e) A copy of the consultation document is attached at Appendix C. This consultation
document was made available to all people listed in section (a) and was also publicised via
Central Bedfordshire Council’s publication ‘Central Essentials’ which is emailed weekly to
head teachers and chairs of governors within Central Bedfordshire.

Project costs

12. A statement of the estimated total capital cost of the proposals and the breakdown of the
costs that are to be met by the governing body, the local education authority, and any other
party.
x
x

The school’s budget is secure, the initial financial cost to the school would be roughly
£30,000 to renovate a set of toilets
For September 2014 there will be a need to tarmac an area for an extra playground, at
an estimated cost of £7,000

Both of these projects have been budgeted for by the Governing Body.

13. A copy of confirmation from the Secretary of State, local education authority and the
Learning and Skills Council for England (as the case may be) that funds will be made available
(including costs to cover any necessary site purchase).
N/A

Appendix B
Page 25 of 31

Page 82

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information

Page 83

Age range

14. Where the proposals relate to a change in age range, the current age range for the school.
The current age range is 3-9 across the school, including part time nursery provision.

Early years provision

15. Where the proposals are to alter the lower age limit of a mainstream school so that it
provides for pupils aged between 2 and 5—
(a) details of the early years provision, including the number of full-time and part-time pupils,
the number and length of sessions in each week, and the services for disabled children
that will be offered;
N/A
(b) how the school will integrate the early years provision with childcare services and how
the proposals are consistent with the integration of early years provision for childcare;
N/A
(c) evidence of parental demand for additional provision of early years provision;
N/A
(d) assessment of capacity, quality and sustainability of provision in schools and in
establishments other than schools who deliver the Early Years Foundation Stage within 3
miles of the school; and
N/A
(e) reasons why such schools and establishments who have spare capacity cannot make
provision for any forecast increase in the number of such provision.
N/A
Changes to sixth form provision

16. (a) Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school
provides sixth form education or additional sixth form education, a statement of how the
proposals will—
(i) improve the educational or training achievements;
(ii) increase participation in education or training; and
(iii)expand the range of educational or training opportunities
for 16-19 year olds in the area;
N/A

Appendix B
Page 26 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information

Page 84

(b) A statement as to how the new places will fit within the 16-19 organisation in an area;
N/A
(c) Evidence —
(i) of the local collaboration in drawing up the proposals; and
(ii) that the proposals are likely to lead to higher standards and better progression at the
school;
N/A
(d) The proposed number of sixth form places to be provided.
N/A

17. Where the proposals are to alter the upper age limit of the school so that the school ceases
to provide sixth form education, a statement of the effect on the supply of 16-19 places in the
area.
N/A

Special educational needs

18. Where the proposals are to establish or change provision for special educational needs—
(a) a description of the proposed types of learning difficulties in respect of which education
will be provided and, where provision for special educational needs already exists, the
current type of provision;
N/A
(b) any additional specialist features will be provided;
N/A
(c) the proposed numbers of pupils for which the provision is to be made;
N/A
(d) details of how the provision will be funded;
N/A
(e) a statement as to whether the education will be provided for children with special
educational needs who are not registered pupils at the school to which the proposals
relate;

Appendix B
Page 27 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information

Page 85

N/A
(f) a statement as to whether the expenses of the provision will be met from the school’s
delegated budget;
N/A
(g) the location of the provision if it is not to be established on the existing site of the school;
N/A
(h) where the provision will replace existing educational provision for children with special
educational needs, a statement as to how the local education authority believes that the
new provision is likely to lead to improvement in the standard, quality and range of the
educational provision for such children; and
N/A
(i) the number of places reserved for children with special educational needs, and where
this number is to change, the proposed number of such places.
N/A

19. Where the proposals are to discontinue provision for special educational needs—
(a) details of alternative provision for pupils for whom the provision is currently made;
N/A
(b) details of the number of pupils for whom provision is made that is recognised by the local
education authority as reserved for children with special educational needs during each
of the 4 school years preceding the current school year;
N/A
(c) details of provision made outside the area of the local education authority for pupils
whose needs will not be able to be met in the area of the authority as a result of the
discontinuance of the provision; and
N/A
(d) a statement as to how the proposer believes that the proposals are likely to lead to
improvement in the standard, quality and range of the educational provision for such
children.

Appendix B
Page 28 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information

Page 86

N/A

20. Where the proposals will lead to alternative provision for children with special educational
needs, as a result of the establishment, alteration or discontinuance of existing provision, the
specific educational benefits that will flow from the proposals in terms of—
(a) improved access to education and associated services including the curriculum, wider
school activities, facilities and equipment with reference to the local education authority’s
Accessibility Strategy;
(b) improved access to specialist staff, both educational and other professionals, including
any external support and outreach services;
(c) improved access to suitable accommodation; and
(d) improved supply of suitable places.
N/A
Sex of pupils

21. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to provide that a school which was an
establishment which admitted pupils of one sex only becomes an establishment which admits
pupils of both sexes—
(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the provision of
single-sex education in the area;
N/A
(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education; and
N/A
(c) details of any transitional period which the body making the proposals wishes specified in
a transitional exemption order (within the meaning of section 27 of the Sex Discrimination
Act 1975).
N/A

22. Where the proposals are to make an alteration to a school to provide that a school which
was an establishment which admitted pupils of both sexes becomes an establishment which
admits pupils of one sex only—
(a) details of the likely effect which the alteration will have on the balance of the provision of
single-sex education in the area; and
N/A
(b) evidence of local demand for single-sex education.
N/A

Appendix B
Page 29 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information

Page 87

Extended services

23. If the proposed alterations affect the provision of the school’s extended services, details of
the current extended services the school is offering and details of any proposed change as a
result of the alterations.
N/A
Need or demand for additional places
24. If the proposals involve adding places—
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the need or demand for the particular places in
the area;
In light of the information received from the consultation the school believes that the proposal to
extend the age range at St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School to become a primary school is the way
forward for our families. The vast majority of parents are clearly in favour of the change and believe
that their children will continue to make good progress if they remained at St. Mary’s School to
complete Key Stage 2. Parents also feel that by completing their primary education at one school
their children will benefit both emotionally and academically. The transition to secondary school
therefore should be smoother and their learning less likely to suffer from interruption.

(b) where the school has a religious character, a statement and supporting evidence of the
demand in the area for education in accordance with the tenets of the religion or religious
denomination;
The Governing Body of St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School are passionate in their vision of
realising a learning journey that is experienced in Catholic schools. We believe that our
children should have the same choice as families in the neighbouring town of Houghton Regis
who can choose to send their children to a Catholic primary school, namely St. Vincent’s.
St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School should become a full primary school, shaped by Catholic
Christian principles, to ensure each child is provided with a continuous church based education
structured around stability, consistency and continuity of learning. The impact of our school values
on pupils and the school community is a strength and this would continue to be a strength if St.
Mary’s was to extend its age range. Parents have said that we should have the same choice as the
catholic families who send their children to other Catholic schools in Houghton Regis and Luton.
The Diocese of Northampton are fully supporting the proposal for St. Mary’s becoming a primary
school, they are very excited about and look forward to the opportunities this will give the school
and church to work together.

(c) where the school adheres to a particular philosophy, evidence of the demand for
education in accordance with the philosophy in question and any associated change to
the admission arrangements for the school.
Please see the objectives of our proposal in section 10 and the evidence in Appendix B

25. If the proposals involve removing places—
(a) a statement and supporting evidence of the reasons for the removal, including an
assessment of the impact on parental choice; and

Appendix B
Page 30 of 31

Agenda Item 3
Prescribed Information
N/A
(b) a statement on the local capacity to accommodate displaced pupils.
N/A

Expansion of successful and popular schools
25A. (1) Proposals must include a statement of whether the proposer considers that the
presumption for the expansion of successful and popular schools should apply, and where the
governing body consider the presumption applies, evidence to support this.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies to expansion proposals in respect of primary and secondary
schools, (except for grammar schools), i.e. falling within:
(a) (for proposals published by the governing body) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to Schedule 2
or paragraph 12 of Part 2 to Schedule 2;
(b) (for proposals published by the LA) paragraph 1 of Part 1 to Schedule 4 or 18 of Part
4 to Schedule 4
of the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England)
Regulations 2007 (as amended).

N/A

Appendix B
Page 31 of 31

Page 88

Mrs A.M. Phillips, Headteacher, Streetfield Middle School – Pages 25 to 27

Mr Donald Brown, Chair of Governors, Streetfield Middle School – Pages 17 to 24

Mrs W. Wilkins, Community Governor, Streetfield Middle School – Pages 13 to 16

Mrs Joanne Hoy, Finance Manager, Streetfield Middle School – Page 12

Mr Des Tinch, Deputy Head Teacher, Streetfield Middle School - Pages 3 to11

Cllr Roger Pepworth, Chair of Board of Directors, St Augustine’s Academy – Pages 1 to 2

Responses received within the representation period

Index to Appendix C

Proposal to change age range of St Marys Catholic VA Lower School

Executive Determination meeting 17th December 2012

Agenda Item 3
Page 89

Agenda Item 3
Page 90

Agenda Item 3
Page 91

Agenda Item 3
Page 92

100 Waterlow
Road
DUNSTABLE
Beds
LU6 1LY
6th November
2013
Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Children’s Services
RE Consultation regarding proposed age range change for St Mary’s
I am writing to contribute to the debate regarding the provision of St Mary’s Lower School.
Before I go in to detail as to the inaccuracies that pervade the submission made by St Mary’s
I would like to offer a positive alternative proposal that could satisfy all parties involved. It
may seem extreme at first but when one considers the educational, political, social and
economical ramifications of the proposed expansion of housing in Houghton Regis it
becomes that clear that careful strategic planning that is inclusive of all sections of the
community is required.
St Mary’s proposal reflects the Roman Catholic Church’s needs and anxieties and as such
are worthy of consideration.
This proposal is not attempting to denigrate St Mary’s proposal instead it is focused on the
needs of the local community and to offer an alternative strategic forward plan for education
that Central Bedfordshire Council may wish to consider. It is also an attempt to help coordinate and consolidate provision in the south of the town. I hope that you will feel able to
consider it seriously.
Here is an alternative to the St Mary’s Proposal to become a primary school with age range
4 -11:
x

The St Mary’s site could be de-commissioned by the Church by being sold to, leased
to or swapped for another site with the LA.
This would enable Streetfield Middle School to expand to form a 3 -13 provision
similar to that of Caddington Village School.

This would make long-term strategic sense for the Local Authority, Dunstable Council,
Downside Estate and its families.
The local non-Catholic population is growing and there will come a time when both this site
and St Augustine’s, both on Downside, will be filled to capacity.

Appendix C
Page 3 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 93

x

x
x

The new hybrid lower-middle provision would be non-denominational and would
work, as it currently does, in close liaison with Manshead – (this potential has not yet
been fully realised because of the unintended, but non-the-less real, tension caused
by the religious designation of each of the Lower and Upper Schools).
This would create a unique 3 -19 campus in Dunstable with a complete learning
pathway of shared and joint services.
The new school will serve a disadvantaged area that will greatly benefit from the
continuity of provision and the possibility of central locality of multi-agency provision
for the local community similar to that enjoyed on Parkside in Houghton Regis –
housed perhaps in the Dunstable Community Centre.

To focus on the religious element for a moment, we have to take note that currently:
x

x

x

St Mary’s school attracts a minority of Roman Catholics and is populated mostly by
non denominational families the majority of whose learning pathway is in to
Streetfield and then to Manshead. Currently up to 40% of the pupil population is
Catholic (this is not the same as practising Catholics though).
As St Mary’s documentation hints, there does not appear to be the capacity to
increase the % of Catholics in the school – even if actual pupil numbers increase.
The Catholic population is not growing faster than the non Catholic - proportionally it
will remain the same.
St Mary’s is a Catholic School with a minority of Catholics in it. There is not the
demand for a larger Catholic School in the south of the town

So, with these facts in mind it makes more strategic sense to either
x

x

Expand St Vincent’s (currently 80% Catholic families) thus allowing it to absorb and
accommodate the 40% from St Mary’s should they wish it– this in turn will enable
the other local Houghton Regis Primary Schools to fill to capacity and, in anticipation
of the new build, give the LA a clearer view of future school needs in the new build
area, or,
Alternatively, the Parish could be offered a site for a new Catholic School in the new
build in North Houghton Regis as compensation for the site in Downside (basically a
swap) – where the proximity to a larger Catholic population in Luton and the
possibility of Catholic families moving into the area is greater than that currently
enjoyed in Downside. This would also allow for easier liaison and transfer to
secondary Catholic Education in Luton (Cardinal Newman).

With this proposal everyone wins - the children and their families, the Local Community, the
Catholic Church, the other local schools and the LA.
Central Bedfordshire would be adopting an imaginative sustainable solution that will actually
save money in the long run.
With regards to the submission made by St Mary’s:
It feels as though this submission is a ‘hotch potch’ of ideas and stuff bought off the shelf or
borrowed from other schools- it seems as though St Mary’s nomenclature has just been
placed in appropriate spaces on a generic form.

Appendix C
Page 4 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 94

Clearly in order to defend its decision St Marys has had to imply that it can do better job than
the schools currently taking their children – that’s all part of the game. The fact remains
though that it cannot successfully demonstrate nor prove it’s case. This is because at the
heart of this submission is not a debate about standards of achievement or children’s best
interests. This is really about the diocese tidying up an anomaly in Catholic provision. To
make this clear I have replied to each section of the proposal in the same detail as it was
written (the dark type is my response or objection)
To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years, through our ethos,
curriculum, teaching and learning organization
Shouldn’t this be happening anyway? It is in every other school in the Learning Partnership.

secondary schools. (JFK in Hemel, and Cardinal Newman in Luton)
In fact we have parents placing their children from Cardinal Newman into Streetfield because they
cannot afford the fare to the school and the journey time of 1 hour or more is deemed excessive.
Freedom of Information facts provided by both Cardinal Newman and JFK show quite clearly that
there is no demand for Catholic Education in the secondary age range that requires such travel
arrangements e.g. from lower schools or middle schools in Dunstable one child has moved to JFK
in the last 3 years ( this because family moved into the area) The 42 children who went to either
Cardinal Newman (14) and JFK (28) in 2012 did so from outside St Mary’s.
This proposal is not about continuity - it is about creating sustainable demand for JFK and
Cardinal Newman.

In fact this proposal does exactly the opposite – it presumes that parents will want to send their
child to a secondary school 11-18. That is not the case. It presumes that most parents want to send
their child on a long trek to secondary school in pursuit of Catholic education. This is not the case.
These are presumptions not facts.
In fact St Mary’s pupils would be seriously disadvantaged by these proposals.

This is absolutely true.
The fact is that if St Mary’s do not improve their standards and their teaching and learning in years
3 and 4 and continue that trend into year 5 and 6 then they will be placed into Special Measures.
There is a significant issue here:
Either the Key Stage 1 results are accurate and the teaching at Key Stage 2 (years 3 and 4) is poor
Or
Key Stage 1 results are inaccurate and Key Stage 2 year 3 and 4 is fantastic.
The fact remains however that some children are leaving St Mary’s appearing to have made good
progress and achieving level 3 yet in reality are barely functioning at Level 2. One pupil this year
was recorded as a Level 3 in maths but in reality is Level 1.
Something is very wrong.
This is not to do with transition – this is to do with good teaching and learning.


Appendix C
Page 5 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 95

underperforming or exceeding in years 5 and 6
This is what every school should do – the fact that St Mary’s identifies it as an implies that it is not
current practice in the school or that they think current destination schools fail to do so. If it is the
latter then it is a false assertion.

The fact remains that St Mary’s is Catholic School but it’s Catholic population is in the minority.
With expansion this will remain broadly the same proportion. St Mary’s cannot exist solely as a
Catholic School the Catholic population is too small.

What communities? Just the Catholic community it seems. Here are the actual facts>
St Mary’s serves an area that has high deprivation yet it does not engage with that community other
than accept pupils.
St Mary’s already belongs to a Learning Partnership to which it has made little or no positive
contribution.
St Mary’s has accepted the help and assistance of it closest school with no reciprocation
St Mary’s has unilaterally taken a decision that has already caused dismay and engendered a lack
of trust between schools.
This is not a school reaching out to communities it is insular, self serving and self interested the
exact opposite of what one would expect from a Catholic School.

for this age range in the local Authority)
Yes, true - this is entirely about Catholic self interest it is not about what is good for children

staff to improve the standard of education for our children
This is what every school wants.
Every experienced leader knows that it will take more than having year 5 and 6 to make St Mary’s
an attractive career opportunity – it depends more on leadership, good pedagogy and ethos.
Principles
The need to raise standards and improve outcomes for young people.

national levels
Local data also shows that KS1 results are either clearly inflated and shrink back to the true
position in year 3 and 4. Local data also shows that year 4 data is inaccurate when compared to KS
2 outcomes because it does not compare like with like. The needs of Key Stage 2 Testing are not
the same as end of year 4. They are measuring different things and the way these things are
measured is different.



Local data indicates that the number of students achieving 5+ GCSEs A* - C is below national
average
This is now an inaccurate assertion. What is important is what progress children make. The
situation is improving rapidly especially in the Learning Partnership.



Increasingly, as professionals, we believe our children would benefit from the stability of a primary
school environment, its organisation and its ethos
Of course but the implication is that this is not already happening – this is untrue.

Appendix C
Page 6 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 96



We believe that primary schools will also improve behaviour, supporting pupils for whom coping in
Years 5 & 6 with the changes associated with transition, may put them at risk of exclusionTo ensure there
is continuity of provision across the 0 – 19 age range so there is a ‘one phase’ approach to learning.

This is a false assertion designed to generate anxiety – a simple look at the data regarding
inclusion will show this to be false.

Current key stage planning is geared around the structure used by the majority of schools in the UK.
This means that the key stage boundaries align with the two tier system
The rest of Central Bedfordshire is remaining 3 tier. St Mary’s has a minority of pupils that are
Catholic who is it to decide which system the rest of the town should adopt?



The need for transition between each tier, particularly in the middle of Key Stages can result in lack
of curriculum understanding, continuity, assessment agreement and ownership of Key Stages

This is true BUT within a year of changing to Primary will be forced to adopt the same
methodologies as Middles or it will fail children at Key Stage 2 this is because it has singularly
failed to liaise effectively – it does not understand what happens in years 5 and 6 – if did it would
not make such spurious and false assertions.

Continuity of provision will provide curriculum continuity avoiding repetition and curriculum conflict
There has been no break in curriculum continuity or ‘curriculum conflict’ whatever that means.
Primary / secondary provision will reduce the number of times a child needs to move schools, it also
makes transition and curriculum continuity easier because it sits at the end of a key stage, the natural
transition for the vast majority of schools in the Country
Schools should be based around communities and their needs



Yet St Mary’s proposals will do the opposite. It will divide its local community.
The proposal ignores the fact that most parents will want to send their children to Manshead CoE
school and will therefore transfer at year 7 for 2 years into a middle school.
Any thoughts being entertained that Streetfield will become part of Manshead are false. Streetfield
is non denominational there is no protocol for this and Streetfield remains firmly committed to
being a Middle School because it is best for children as people and young adults.

therefore we are meeting their needs
How many parents responded as Appendix B appears not to be available?
How many parents were asked to blindly sign the form on the playground by the Headteacher in
order to get to the minimum number of replies?
Granted it is likely that the majority of parents who heard the speech at church signed up but they
still represent an minority of families.

admission to Catholic secondary schools
These rules are easily amended if there is a will but in fact they are already aren’t they? This is at
best a red herring and at worst an attempt to scaremonger Catholic parents.

stay in a smaller year group setting until age eleven
Really? Properly and fully informed parents prefer their child to move from a year group of 26 to
one of between 180 and 320 having just travelled for some 45 mins to an hour with older children
on a bus to a different town? Really? Do the parents really know that this is the choice that they
are making?

St. Mary’s because we don’t currently provide Yrs 5 and 6. They are therefore choosing to send their

Appendix C
Page 7 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 97

children to other local Catholic schools and on occasion travelling further.
New models of leadership and governance for schools should be considered
Interestingly, if this proves to be true then it would presumably result in fewer children attending ST
Vincents as this is the other local Catholic school!

flexibility across schools

field

priorities for school improvement
That vision should reflect recent current reform
St Mary’s was supposed to be doing these things within its current partnership with local schools


effectively
This serves to prove that St Mary’s does understand the curriculum at all. There is no difference
between 2 tier and 3 tier Key Stage 2 curriculum nor in assessment procedures- this is just another
piece of obfuscation. The difference is the testing requirements, arrangements and conduct in Year
6

diversity in the provision of schools, and increase opportunities for parental choice. This proposal supports
this amendment by increasing parental choice, and diversity of educational provision
BUT parents did not seek/request this choice did they? It was foisted upon them as a take it or
leave it option in September by a Governing Body that recognized the weakness of the current
situation – namely how can St Mary’s consider itself to be a truly Catholic school when a minority
of its pupils are Catholic?
The Governing Body has worked hard to persuade parents through the church to agree to the
proposal but is still faced with the fact that those parents are not the majority population in the
school.
It mistakenly believes that that by increasing the number of classes it will increase the
PROPORTION of Catholics but this is an error – there just aren’t enough Catholics in the town for 2
Catholic Primary schools.
Effect on school standards and school improvements Leadership and Management
St Mary’s has strong and confident leadership and the professional capacity and skills to drive
forward the proposed changes, through:

Luton and Houghton Regis

expectations for our schools


raise standards and share targets for school and community improvement

that already exists in years 3 and 4

schools

extended their age range to 11

We also believe that a full primary school provides greater career development opportunities for new and

Appendix C
Page 8 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 98

existing staff than lower schools, and may be more attractive to new applicants.
The fact is that all of these things should be happening anyway – this proposal doesn’t change
anything in this respect. However, if it is not already happening and the school needs a change of
age range to implement these aspects of everyday life then it is a tacit admission of failure.
Curriculum
We believe that curriculum delivery is paramount to enable all pupils to have opportunities to become
successful learners, confident individuals and responsible citizens. This will be achieved through an
engaging, challenging and purposeful primary curriculum that better meets the learning styles and needs of
our pupils and we will address this in the following ways: We acknowledge there will be a significant impact
on our school in the delivery, resourcing and teaching of some specialist subject areas, and we appreciate
that the curriculum for Years 5 and 6 will need careful planning. We will do this by:

Summer terms with the full support of the senior leadership team

children should be expected to acquire in their later primary years

and pastoral care




Schools
Teaching styles within upper Key Stage 2 will promote opportunities to further develop learning & thinking
skills and independence through an enquiry based and reflective teaching style which will meet the needs
of a range of learners. CPD will focus on innovative teaching, learning and in giving teachers the
confidence to support all children to progress.
We will continue to update our own knowledge and understanding of assessment in line with new
government legislation. We already benefit from the expertise of two members of staff who have
experience of teaching and assessing upper Key Stage 2.
Target setting and monitoring will continue, as a whole school approach, as this has already proved
successful. We will moderate with other providers of Year 5 and 6. We will continue to build upon high
standards of APP to assess learning and meet individual needs through successful interventions. Pupils
will be involved in their own self-assessment of progress and setting learning goals for the future.
Our school has a strong commitment to PSHCE within a Catholic environment and keeping children safe.
We recognise the different challenges faced by upper KS 2 pupils and have strong links to local initiatives
which will support their PSHE development e.g. SRE, Mental health.
Again all of this is currently true BUT what is not mentioned is that which St Mary’s pupils will be
denied by these proposals:
Specialist Teaching in core and foundation subjects – state of the art facilities for sport, ICT, food,
design, art, modern foreign languages and science. None of these facilities are available at St
Mary’s – perhaps they do not matter!
Parents and community
Ensuring that this school system works for our families by promoting the confidence of our parents and fully
engaging with them and the community through:


meaning our school is well placed to
address parental concerns


he current very good practice that exists within our school
e.g. Parent/carer workshops on curriculum matters, open door policy which encourages good
communication and supporting children at home
Our initial research shows that parents are in favour of primary schooling which will promote
increased confidence within the local community that the education system is geared to local need
and reflects parental wishes.

Appendix C
Page 9 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 99

‘Our initial research shows that…’ then the initial research is flawed – probably because of the way
the closed questions were set and asked …initial research of this nature in middle schools would
show the opposite.
Behaviour
Evidence from Ofsted reports, SIP reports and LA exclusion data show that behaviour is very well
managed in our school. This is due to established behaviour management strategies that are successful for
the following reasons:

relationships, especially with our more vulnerable families



etc. because the school knows these children well.

needs of children, able to address behaviour management
None of the above is changed by this proposal – this is and should be true of all schools – it is a
fact that St Mary’s do not have the capacity, facilities or expertise to deal with these issues any
more effectively than currently happens in the destination schools – indeed they face a very steep
learning curve.
Transition
Transition is a major key to successful lifelong learning. In order to achieve successful transition for all,
there needs to be effective communication between different settings.
Good transition is fundamental to the success of this proposal; we are fully committed to work with all future
providers having agreed processes for transfer at age 11 so that the school journey becomes seamless. In
order to achieve this seamless transition we will ensure that there is :


judgements and information




only experience one transition event before the age of 19

Well anything that finally helps St Mary’s to become accountable for its own performance has to be
a good thing. These things are supposed to be happening now – if they are not then St Mary’s
needs to be held to account now. If it can’t achieve this now then why should parents trust it to do
so in year 6? The fact is that under proposals the number of transition points will stay the same
because the vast majority will choose to go to Middle then Upper rather than Catholic 11-18. What
does the proposal really do in this respect?
SEND
We feel that changing age range will have a positive impact for pupils with SEND and for vulnerable
learners e.g. LAC, building on from the current good practice already established in our school.

intervention

supportive SEND provision already in place and pupils will benefit from this for a further two years


support pupils with SEND and their families and will continue this for upper Key Stage 2 pupils


feeder settings and transition schools

and vulnerable learners
Again, the proposal does not enhance this provision they actually diminish it. The failure to

Appendix C
Page 10 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 100

investigate or follow up case histories of ex pupils has left the school ignorant of current
provision in middle school for these learners. In practice St Mary’s has transferred children
with minimal, incomplete and inaccurate information regarding needs,
Extended Services
This proposal will provide the opportunity to develop extended school provision reflecting the needs of the
community. We will work to provide a range of extended services








Once again, these aspects are not contingent upon becoming a primary – they should be
happening already – if not why not?

Thank you for taking the time to get this far in the document – I hope that it will have made you see that I
am not a crank and do care about this local learning community and its needs.

Yours sincerely,

D Tinch

For the purposes of transparency:
I am a parent, a resident of Dunstable and I am one of the Deputy Heads and a Governor at
Streetfield Middle School.

Appendix C
Page 11 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 101

Dear Ms Grant
I would like to register my disagreement with the proposed change which would not benefit the
majority of children in the South Dunstable area.
The proposed model presented to Councillor Versallion recently would allow the current system
of children being on one campus for their statutory education to continue without the upset and
distruption that could be caused by a change in age-range.
I feel it would be more beneficial for parents choosing to send their children to a "Roman
Catholic" school, to have the option to send them to a larger school, i.e. St Vincent's in
Houghton Regis, where they can learn more about their faith. This option would be less costly
than making changes to St Mary's to accommodate a further 2 academic years.
I am a parent that has seen two children go through the current system here in South
Dunstable, successfully and would like other parents to experience the same positive effect.
Yours sincerely

MRS. JOANNE HOY
Finance Manager
Streetfield Middle School

Appendix C
Page 12 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 102

Mrs W Wilkins
3 Cresta Close
Dunstable
Beds
LU5 4NH

30th November 2012

Edwina Grant
Central Bedfordshire Council

Sent by email: Edwina.grant@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

To Whom It May Concern

Consultation on St Mary’s Lower School, Dunstable

I write in response to the consultation to extend the upper age range of St Mary's Catholic
Lower School.

I am parent of two children who attended schools in the town and both have now left the
education system in Bedfordshire. One of my children is now at University. In addition to
this I am currently a Community Governor. I have been a school governor since 1994 and
have also been involved in PTA’s at all three of my children’s’ schools. I first became a
governor when my children attended a school in Houghton Regis, again when they attended
a lower school in Dunstable and then at Streetfield Middle. Since 1994 I have seen the
many changes in the education system and I fully support the three tier system which our
Local Authority voted to retain.

Questions relating to the proposal:

Appendix C
Page 13 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 103

1.

I strongly disagree with the proposed changes to the age range at St Mary's Catholic
Lower School.

2.

I strongly disagree with the timescale plan of the age change. By seeking approval
before the end of December you are asking current parents at St Mary's to
jeopardise a place at a middle school as they cannot be sure if St Mary's will be able
to offer a place to their child beyond year four and the option of transferring to middle
school will not be available to them if they do not complete the required transfer form
for year 5. This will also be unsettling to current pupils at St Mary's as friendship
groups could be compromised.

In the information provided in the Consultation document various statements are made
which I would like to respond to.
Transferring in the middle of KS2 can affect curriculum understanding, continuity and
educational assessment.
Can you please advise what facts support these claims? It is my understanding that middle
schools take into account KS1 results, but that transfer data is also provided from lower
schools to middle schools on pupils attainment and progress in years 3 and 4 before they
transfer. This also applies when children transfer from middle to upper school.
Our children would benefit from the stability of a primary school setting that is
organised to meet the specific learning needs of the upper KS2 child.
By transferring to a middle school the children would benefit from specialist teaching in many
different subjects. Teaching is not purely aimed at the children of year 6 who are taking
SATs, progress is monitored across all four years. Links with St Vincent’s and those catholic
schools in neighbouring local authorities could continue in addition to children from St Mary’s
continue to visit Streetfield and Manshead, who share the campus with St Mary's.

The vast majority of Local Authorities have converted to a primary / secondary model.
This is not the case. In the Isle of Wight the decision to change from three tier to two tier
was not upheld. In addition the situation in Northamptonshire has led to many children being
failed. Many schools have been affected by cuts in funding and the option to become
Academies has been considered by some schools to be the only option as initial funding to
become an Academy would appear to ease the shortfalls in their school budgets. This has
been the primary reason why so many lower schools have become Academies and then
sought to extend their age ranges.
The expansion of 3 lower schools in the local area becoming primary schools and
some local upper schools investigating converting to secondary schools.

Appendix C
Page 14 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 104

If other lower schools are becoming primary schools what bearing does this have on St
Mary's who have advised they wish to extend their age range due to religious reasons
primarily. Manshead Upper is a Church of England school who have not expressed any
interest in changing to a secondary school. Queensbury Upper is rumoured to be
considering changing it's age range and is currently an Academy but has no religious
background. I understand that some parents at St Mary's are under the impression that
places will be guaranteed to their children at John F Kennedy in Hemel Hempstead or
Cardinal Newman in Luton. Both of these schools are outside of the Local Authority remit
and they have their own admission requirements.
Objectives of Proposal
To facilitate the continuity of Catholic education … and a smoother transition to secondary
schools.
It is not clear which secondary schools children from St Mary's would transfer to. In addition
there is no provision for a Catholic secondary school in the local Authority.
To raise standards and improve outcomes particularly at age 11.
All schools, despite their background or local authority, strive to ensure that children reach
their full potential at all ages. To imply that extending the age range to age 11 at St Mary's
will improve outcomes cannot be proven. At Streetfield Middle our recent OFSTED
inspection has reported that children which attend for the four years from year 5 to year 8
exceed the National average for those aged 13. This is despite some of the children being
below the National average when they join us in year 5.
To ensure particular attention is given to groups of children who are either under performing
or exceeding in years 5 & 6.
SEN encompasses both children who are struggling and those who are considered gifted
and able. All schools provide support to these pupils, irrespective of their age or which
school they attend.
To provide specialist primary education for children in years 5 and 6.
Can you please explain how this differs from the National Curriculum that is offered in lower
and middle schools at present.
To bring St Mary's in line with St Vincent's Primary.
If you wish to be "in line" with St Vincent's Primary, what can you offer parents and children
which will differentiate you from St Vincent's. Links can still be made with St Vincents and
other schools in the Local Authority irrespective of a change in age-range.
To make working at St Mary’s more attractive and help us recruit and retain good quality
staff to improve the standard of education for our children.
I cannot understand how changing the age range would make St Mary’s a more attractive
place to work. You advise that you wish to retain pupils currently attending St Mary’s with an

Appendix C
Page 15 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 105

intention for more Catholic children to join the school. Recruiting good quality staff should
not be solely based on having potentially more Catholic children in the school.
Working together with other schools.
You state that St Mary’s is fully committed to working together with the school’s of the local
Learning Partnership and other Catholic schools. When St Mary’s joined the local Learning
Partnership it was agreed that all schools would liaise with each other by sharing good
practice, identifying areas which the Learning Partnership could assist with and most
importantly by being open with proposals which may affect other schools in the Learning
Partnership. It was a great shock to find from other parties the proposals of St Mary’s to
extend their age range without this being shared at recent Learning Partnership meetings.
This was felt more keenly not only as St Mary’s were in the Learning Partnership but also
because the staff and governors at both schools had always worked so closely for the
benefit of the children at St Mary’s. Can you therefore be sure that other Catholic schools
would not act in the same way as St Mary’s have on this occasion to preserve their own
pupil numbers and not consider St Mary’s who are not even in the same Local Authority
when looking at Secondary school intake. Other schools in the Learning Partnership may
also feel uneasy working with St Mary’s in the future if such far-reaching proposals had not
been shared prior to St Mary’s entering the consultation process. You also state that you
would secure value for money by sharing suppliers, arranging joint training and identifying
shared priorities for school improvement; all of these proposals are already in place within
the local Learning Partnership and extending your age-range would not have any bearing on
these areas.
Extended Services
Can you advise with whom St Mary’s propose joining with to offer extended school provision.
Finally, I would like to add that there is a huge amount of uncertainty in Dunstable at present
with regard to proposed changes at many schools. My own children are now aged 22 and
19 years respectively and therefore no longer in the education system in Dunstable.
Throughout my time as a both a parent and a governor I have never doubted the middle
school system and always felt that the schools in our area worked well together to ensure
that all children reached their full potential. My hope would be that in the near future all
schools will once again, with the support of our Local Authority, refocus their efforts on
ensuring that all children are able to reach their full potential and parents once again see all
schools working together.

Yours sincerely

Wendy Wilkins

Mrs W J Wilkin

Appendix C
Page 16 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 106

30th November 2013

Deputy Chief Executive / Director of Children’s Services,
Central Bedfordshire Council,
Priory House,
Chicksands,
Shefford,
Beds SG17 5TQ
Sent by email: Edwina.Grant@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk

Dear Sirs

Consultation on a proposal to extend the upper age range

It is incumbent on the authority to assess the impact of any change on all of the pupils in this area of
Dunstable. Schools are here to serve all of the community not just a minority.

Proposal

To provide stability, consistency and continuity for children in their primary years.
Do the year 3 and 4 results show that this is in place now? Shouldn’t this be happening now? It is in
other partnership schools. It is a myth that Key Stage 1 and Key stage 2 have the same educational
requirements.

To facilitate the continuity of Catholic education and provide access and smoother transition to
secondary schools
I assume by this you mean Catholic secondary schools. My understanding is that St Mary’s have
stated that Catholic pupils attending your school will be guaranteed a place at either JFK or Cardinal

Appendix C
Page 17 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 107

Newman, both schools outside the local authority and servicing only 40% of the school pupil
population. These pupils will have to fund their own way there. Freedoms of information act requests
have shown that there is no demand from children in the school currently to go to either of the named
schools. Of the 42 children who went to the named schools last year none came from St Mary’s
catchment. The other 60% will transfer for year 5, or year 7 but on what pathway? As part of the
learning partnership St Mary’s focus ought to be on those pupils who go on to authority schools via
the existing pathway. These pupils if they stay on at St Mary’s will have a change at year 7 to where?
What is the pathway? And then again at year 9! How does this help transition? At present Manshead
cannot take these pupils at year 7 and are unlikely to be able to do so in the foreseeable future. The
Queensbury proposal that was alluded to in the “public” meeting has a reduced capacity on pupil
numbers, and cannot take place until they qualify under ofsted. Are 60% of the pupils being
disenfranchised by your proposal? How many pupils as a percentage have actually gone to these
Catholic secondary schools?

To raise standards and improve outcomes for young people particularly at age 11
& to ensure that particular attention is paid to groups of children who are either underperforming or
exceeding in years 5 & 6
At the risk of repeating myself. Do the year 3 and 4 results show that this is the case now? How
insulting is this statement to the Middle Schools who take the pupils?
Every school is doing this. Does this consultation document really suggest that this doesn’t happen?
Perhaps St Mary’s should check with the authority how good your nearest Middle School is with
SEN.
What would St Mary’s now do differently? Perhaps it is something that should have been shared in
the Learning Partnership?
Raising standards is about the quality of teaching and learning, the quality of leadership, but not the
buildings or the age range.

To provide equal access for all pupils to primary school education regardless of faith.
Surely the Lower and Middle School set up does this already? The curriculum for the latter part of
KS2 is still the same but in Middle Schools it is taught in a specialist environment combining the
strength of Primary and Secondary practice. Middle schools enable pupils to access the skills they
need to be independent learners.

To ensure our school is based around communities and its needs
How can this be true when only 60% of your current intake, a figure that is unlikely to reduce
significantly, are likely to be educationally disenfranchised? How can this be the case when no child
from the catchment went on to either JFK or Cardinal Newman last year? In what way does this

Appendix C
Page 18 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 108

proposal benefit the larger community?

To provide specialist primary education in years 5 and 6
In what way would the delivery of the curriculum differ from what is offered in Middle Schools at the
moment? Middle Schools provide a transition from primary to secondary learning. They introduce a
much wider curriculum with specialist teaching in the core subjects as well as in other areas that allow
pupils to grow and achieve.

To bring St Mary’s in line with St Vincent’s
Is this proposal about community of catholic need? If it is about Catholic need perhaps the local
authority should consider granting St Vincent’s the ability to extend and accommodate the catholic
population currently attending St Mary’s. There is a lot of rumor about “land swaps” being on offer. Is
this an opportunity to facilitate this and provide a one campus three tier solution?

To make working at St Mary’s more attractive and help us recruit and retain good quality staff to
improve the standard of education for our children
How will changing the age range achieve this any better than a wholehearted adoption of the Learning
Partnership? The partnership gives opportunity and career progression over a much wider area. The
opportunity to experience teaching across the age groups, share best practice, and have a greater
understanding of the needs of the children across those age range should be more attractive in teacher
recruitment and retention. What evidence is there that recruitment is better in a primary situation?
Recruitment is worse in any situation where there is uncertainty, again it is not dependent upon age
range or phase, it is dependent upon leadership.
Principles
The need to raise standards and improve outcomes for young people

Local data shows that children achieve well in Lower schools from a starting point that is below
national average
This is true and key stage 2 results have also improved dramatically. Local data however also shows
that year 3 and 4 data shows that the improvement at key stage 1 does not continue at the same pace.
Progress is not in line with expectations. It is also a fact that key stage 2 measures different things in
different ways so comparison is not simple. It is far better to measure progress and judged on progress
years 3 & 4 are not good.

Local data indicates that the number of students achieving 5+ GCSE’s A – C is below national
average.

Appendix C
Page 19 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 109

This is now not correct and the outcomes are improving. Local data also shows that the progress in the
Middle Schools is above national expectations and that pupils leave the Middle Schools with
achievement above the national average at Key stage 3, a year 9 test!

Increasingly as professionals we believe our children would benefit from the stability of a primary
school environment, its organization and its ethos
There is no data to support this statement. It is merely a belief; a statement without any basis is fact,
similar to creationist belief. As professionals how can you possibly contend that the teaching of
subjects but specialist teachers in an environment which is designed to come with the emotional,
physical and developmental needs of children? I believe that this is of huge benefit educational,
morally and spiritually.

We believe that primary schools will also improve behavior, supporting pupils for whom coping in
Years 5 & 6 with the changes associated with transition, may put them at risk of exclusion. To ensure
that there is continuity of provision across the 0-19 age range so that there is a one phase approach to
learning
Again that word believe. There is no evidence to support this; in fact the data will contradict this
point. How will this change assist continuity? There is currently no clear route for children from any
change in age range. Do they then come to a Middle and then to an upper? Do they go across town?
There is no evidence to support the assertion that the pupils will go on to Catholic secondaries.

Current key stage planning is geared around the structure used by the majority of schools in the UK.
This means that the key stage boundaries align with the two tier system
There is no evidence to support that this produced better outcomes for pupils. Isn’t that the criteria
that should be used in this document? The rest of Central Bedfordshire is remaining three tier. Is it fair
that a minority of “faith” parents should be able to dictate to the majority?

The need for transition between each tier, particularly in the middle of Key stages can result in a lack
of curriculum understanding, continuity, assessment and ownership of Key stages.
True it can, but it shouldn’t. Effective liaison, which St Mary’s has failed to engage in would alleviate
this. There is a lack of understanding of what happens in the second part of key stage 2. The failure to
progress in years 3 & 4 as evidenced by the current data will mean that unless St Mary’s addresses
this issue it will not be able to adopt the strategies and methodologies required. This is a false
statement and singularly shows a failure to understand their own data and what happens in year 5 & 6.

Continuity of provision will provide curriculum continuity avoiding repetition and curriculum conflict
What does this actually mean? There is no break in curriculum continuity, there can be no change to
the curriculum taught. It just happens to be a fact that subjects in Middle Schools are taught by

Appendix C
Page 20 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 110

specialist teachers in a specialist environment.

Primary/secondary provision will reduce the number of times a child needs to move schools, it also
makes transition and curriculum continuity easier because it sits at the end of a key stage, the natural
transition for the vast majority of schools in the Country.
This proposal doesn’t do this. There is no clear path. At present there will still be 2 changes. There
are no proposals for Steetfield to become part of Manshead. The statement about natural transition is
spurious, again I repeat there is no evidence that tiering has any impact. Perhaps the authority should
take a close look at Northampton?

Schools should be based around communities and their needs.
Totally agree, but this proposal isn’t about the community and its needs. It is about a minority view.
Preaching from the pulpit does not reach the majority. Again the evidence that children from this
community go on to either JFK or Cardinal Newman is just not there.

Parents are overwhelmingly supportive therefore we are meeting their needs.
If the evidence at the “public” meeting is anything to go by the vehemence that was directed at
anyone who attempted to ask questions has been applied to the collection of signatures and the
preaching from the pulpit then this data is flawed. Aggressive collection of signatures on the
playground and car park is not indicative of support merely of bullying.

The Catholic community needs provision of Catholic primary education to year 6 to qualify for
admission to Catholic secondary schools
Really? Is it beyond the whit of the catholic secondary schools to alter admission criteria? Again
however the evidence for those from the postcode area service by St Mary’s going on to Catholic
secondary schools is not there.

The proposal specifically meets the needs of local parents who prefer that their children stay in a
smaller year group setting until age 11.
Really? Parents are prepared to let their 11 year olds travel by bus for some 45 minutes each way to
year groups of over 200 mixing with 19 year olds, from a year group of 26, instead of a short walk to
a year group of just over 100 in a specialist school with a maximum age of 13. Have parents really
been informed or just told.

We have been informed that Catholic families are choosing not to send their children to St Mary’s
because there is no year 5, 6 provision. New models of leadership and governance for schools should
be considered.

Appendix C
Page 21 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 111

Currently then since there are not sufficient Catholic children for two schools this would impact on St
Vincent’s should they choose to come to St Mary’s. Again a point in favour of expanding St
Vincent’s. Had St Mary’s properly participated in the Learning Partnership it would be aware that the
area of governance and leadership is being investigated.

Collective working in partnership
Addressing shortages of governors
Sharing of expertise and resource
Securing “ Best value”
These are things that are already being worked on within the Learning Partnership and had St Mary’s
fully committed to that Partnership it would have understood that this is what it was about and what it
should have been doing in the first place. If it is not currently doing this there is no evidence that they
will do this in the future.

Curriculum model
Effective assessment
There is a failure to understand the curriculum. There is no difference in the curriculum between 3
and 2 tier systems in delivery or assessment. This is meaningless. It is an attempt to use structure as an
excuse for failure. It is not structure it is teaching, learning and leadership.

EIA 2006 duty of local authority.
The act does indeed place a duty on the local authority to act where parents have initiated a measure.
This proposal was not initiated by parents but by a small, vocal, self interested minority. The
governing body has worked very hard to persuade and cajole parents. It still acknowledges that the
proportion of Catholic pupils is unlikely to rise and yet it seeks to disenfranchise from a clear
educational path the majority of pupils in its “community”.

Effect of school standards and school improvements and Leadership
At last something about improving the outcomes of pupils. The fact is however that all of the things
listed should be happening already and it is an indictment of St Mary’s that they are not. There is no
evidence that this proposal will change anything.
Age range will not make this automatic. If the evidence of Northampton is to be taken on board the
reverse will be the case.

Curriculum
Curriculum delivery is paramount. Teaching learning and leadership are the drivers for change and
improvement. This proposal will deny the majority of pupils the opportunity of specialist provision
and teaching that already exists. Will deny the pupil’s access to subjects outside the foundation
subjects, sports (already delivered to them by Streetfield), science labs, modern foreign languages, art,

Appendix C
Page 22 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 112

music, the opportunity to excel and aspire to excel is a broad based curriculum. These matter, and the
proposal doesn’t recognize this.

Parents and community
The research here is fundamentally flawed. The questions are closed. The data collection was
aggressive. Middle school data and the earlier 2 tier 3 tier debate showed exactly the opposite.

Behaviour
None of the comments listed here is changed by the proposal. This is and should be true of all schools.
It is a fact that ST Mary’s does not have capacity and expertise to deal with these issues anymore
effectively then the current schools that the pupils currently go to, the proposal offers nothing new in
this regard.

Transition & accountability
St Mary’s is accountable already. All schools are. Perhaps they should take a good look at their data
and explain to the parents of the current cohorts why it is they do not make the progress in year 3 & 4
that is expected. These things should be happening already and if they are not then this proposal is
again an indictment of the school.
The proposal doesn’t change the number of transitions, it adds confusion.

SEND
The proposal adds nothing to enhance the current provision. The current failure to follow up case
histories of pupils who have left is again an indictment of St Mary’s. This is not a feature made easier
by change of age range.
In fact nothing in the proposal is contingent upon changing age range they are things that should be
happening, or are happening already. They are not a consequence of structure but of leadership,
teaching and learning.
This is a proposal which is a comment on the schools failure to engage in the community that it
purports to serve.
The indecent speed and nature of the proposal will cause undue damage to the education of pupils in
the Dunstable community. If the council is committed to improving the outcomes of the young people
of Dunstable it should be seeking to support the initiatives already being made in the learning
community that are standards focused not focused on self interest.

Appendix C
Page 23 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 113

Thank you for taking the time to read this

Yours faithfully

Donald Brown FCA
Chair Streetfield Middle
Local business owner

Cc: Cllr Mark Versallion.,

By email only

Appendix C
Page 24 of 27

Agenda Item 3
Page 114

Agenda Item 3
Page 115

Agenda Item 3
Page 116

Agenda Item 3
Appendix D

HEADTEACHER
Mr S. Chiswell, BA Ed (Hons)
ASSISTANT HEADTEACHER
Miss S. Nichol, BA, Cert. Ed

Page 117

St. Mary’s Catholic Lower School
Dunstable Road
Caddington
Dunstable
Bedfordshire LU1 4BB
Tel: (01582 602420)
Fax: (01582) 667191
Email: stmaryscadd@cbc.beds.sch.uk
Website: www.stmaryscatholiclower.co.uk

Tuesday 4th December, 2012
Dear Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Children’s Services,
RE: Consultation regarding proposed age range changes for St. Mary’s Catholic Lower
School
There have been 6 submissions to the Deputy Chief Executive/Director of Children's Service
following the publication of the statutory notice regarding the school's proposal, 5 of which
have been submitted by staff or Governors of Streetfield Middle School. The Governing
Body has reviewed all of the responses and many of the issues raised within these
submissions are addressed within the Governing Body's original proposal but those that are
not are addressed below.
I would like to start with why we started this process. The governing body has considered
changing the age range since 2006 when St. Vincent’s Catholic Lower School went to
consultation. It was felt by many that both schools should look at becoming primary at the
same time. Following an informal canvassing of St. Mary’s parents, it was clear that there
was not sufficient parental support for a number or reasons, including not having, at that
time, a permanent head teacher. It was therefore given a low priority, but scheduled for
reassessment at a later date.
When Steve Chiswell became head teacher in September 2010, it was felt an appropriate
time to informally approach parents again as to their opinion regarding this question. The
feedback was very much in favour of the change. St Mary’s governing body made this
proposal for the following reasons:
• Parents of our pupils, in significant numbers, were asking governors and the head
teacher if it would be possible to extend the age range and requesting that we did so.
• Existing Catholic parents were considering moving their children from St Mary’s prior
to the end of Year 4, to secure a place at another Catholic primary school for the
continuation of Catholic education.
• Catholic parents from other Catholic primary schools informed us that they could
never consider St. Mary’s as a viable option while we didn’t provide education up to
Year 6.
• Non-Catholic parents, who represent the majority, were very supportive and told us
that they had chosen our school because of the Catholic ethos.
Our process has always been about listening to our parents and the community. It has also
always had the full support of the Northampton Diocese and the local Catholic churches. It
is suggested a number of times that there aren’t enough Catholics in the area to warrant this
change, and that we would not increase our proportion of Catholic children. The reality is
that the exact impact on the proportion of Catholic children at St Mary’s is unknown. We are
committed to the view that our proposal provides increased parental choice and it is in the
best interests of our pupils, their parents and the community regardless of denomination. It

Agenda Item 3

Page
Appendix D
is interesting that support for the proposal from our parents is equally strong for those who
are not Catholic.
Our parents are immensely supportive at school, regardless of whether they are Catholic or
non-Catholic. We would like to invite you to our school, so you can experience St. Mary’s for
yourself and see the impact of our ethos on our children and their families. Please also note
that the school would fully support all pupils and their families regardless of whether they
choose to leave at the end of year 4 or 6.
It is the opinion of the governing body that extending our age range will help provide a
platform for improving standards at St Mary's. Unfortunately Streetfield have taken our
positive intentions as suggestions of issues in their school, and much of the Streetfield
feedback feels emotional. Our proposal is in no way intended to suggest a lack of provision
within the existing local middle schools. We simply agree with the Secretary of State for
Education’s view that “promoting greater parental choice helps to improve standards for all
children”. In the letters from Streetfield, they appear to want to deny St Mary’s the freedom
to develop our school and deny the parents of our pupils the right to choice.
We would like to stress that the staff at St. Mary’s have always actively worked with other
schools and organisations, including Streetfield, and we are a committed member of the
Learning Partnership. We have participated in recent discussions on potential structural
changes to the Partnership schools. The Partnership is clearly committed to finding a way
for two and three tier schools to work in parallel, and have a number of ideas to take
forward. It is clear that Streetfield are committed to maintaining the three tier system,
however we believe the two systems can co-exist.
In a number of the letters, our commitment to supporting our pupil ‘learning journeys’ to stay
within the Learning Partnership schools has been questioned. Our understanding of the
partnership is that we are working together for the mutual benefit of our schools and pupils,
most of who stay within the partnership for their entire learning journey. As we are a
voluntary aided Catholic school, we must also support the continuation of Catholic education
as required. We would also like to clarify that during this process we have never inferred that
pupils who remain at St. Mary’s for Years 5 and 6 would be ‘guaranteed’ a place at JFK or
Cardinal Newman Secondary schools.
We also work closely with a number of Luton Catholic schools. Our staff regularly meet with
those from other schools to exchange ideas, increase knowledge and it is always a two-way
process. We also have links with the Downside Community Centre, whose team regularly
attend our parent coffee mornings. As many of our parents come from the Downside areas
this is a useful link for us.
We acknowledge Mr Tinch’s alternative to the St. Mary’s proposal and expansion of St.
Vincent’s ideas. This is clearly not a constructive alternative, for many reasons including the
clear wish of our parents and local community, a full response would require discussions
with the Diocese and County, but there is currently no reason to believe that this is worth
further consideration. It should be noted that when this concept was raised and discussed
within the ‘Learning Partnership’ there appeared to be no support from other schools.
Throughout this consultation process we have been annoyed by the tone and nature of
Streetfield’s official response. This included canvassing St. Mary’s parents with a booklet
which set out to undermine not just our proposal, but also our school. St Mary’s staff,
governors and parents have acted professionally throughout this process, but have been put
under much stress as a result.

118

Agenda Item 3

Page
Appendix D
We feel it is important to specifically address some comments from Mr. Brown, the chair of
governors at Streetfield. Firstly it should be noted that we are offended and upset by the
tone of his comments both in his response during the formal consultation and in his
endorsement of the above mentioned booklet.
Mr Brown has made some particularly upsetting comments in his statements about our
handling of the informal consultation process. He uses language such as ‘vehemence’,
‘preaching’, ‘aggressive’, and ‘bullying’. The truth is that we carried out a very carefully
considered process, and that we actively encouraged both positive and negative feedback.
Since the feedback was overwhelmingly positive he feels that the only way to undermine it is
to claim that the process was biased. He attended the public meeting, which was widely
publicised, but where a very small number of people expressed concerns and almost all of
them were directly related to his school. When you consider the publicity given to our
proposal by their anti-proposal booklet, we were shocked to find that so few people felt
strongly enough against the proposal to attend the meeting.
Since the beginning of the informal consultation, there has been an overwhelming majority
of our parents (regardless of religious affiliation) who want St Mary's to become a primary
school. We re-iterate that the proposal is primarily to provide additional parental choice,
improved standards and enable continuity of Catholic education. We understand that
Streetfield do not agree with our proposal but I hope you will be able to appreciate that St
Mary's governors, staff, and the vast majority of parents, would like the school to move
forward as a primary school.
Yours sincerely,

Richard Neal
Chair of Governors

119

Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank

